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To the Shareholders of Australis Capital Inc. 
 
Opinion 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Australis Capital Inc. and its subsidiaries (the “Company”), 
which  comprise  the  consolidated  statements  of  financial  position  as  at  March  31,  2020,  and  the  consolidated 
statements  of  comprehensive  loss,  changes  in  equity  and  cash  flows  for  the  year  then  ended,  and  notes  to  the 
consolidated financial statements,  including a summary of significant accounting policies  (collectively,  the “financial 
statements”).   
 
In our audit opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position 
of the Company as at March 31, 2020 and its consolidated financial performance and its cash flows for the year then 
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). 
 
Basis for Opinion  

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards (“Canadian GAAS”). Our 
responsibilities  under  those  standards  are  further  described  in  the  Auditor's  Responsibilities  for  the  Audit  of  the 
Financial  Statements  section  of  our  report.  We  are  independent  of  the  Company  in  accordance  with  the  ethical 
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our 
audit is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
 
Comparative Information 

The financial statements as of and for the year ended March 31, 2019, which are presented for comparative purposes, 
were audited by another auditor who expressed an unmodified opinion on those financial statements on July 31, 2019.  
 
Other Information  

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises Management's Discussion & 
Analysis. 
 
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not and will not express any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon. In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to 
read  the other  information  identified above and,  in doing  so,  consider whether  the other  information  is materially 
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated.  
 
We obtained the Management’s Discussion & Analysis prior to the date of this auditor's report. If, based on the work 
we  have  performed  on  this  other  information,  we  conclude  that  there  is  a  material  misstatement  of  this  other 
information, we are required to report that fact in this auditor's report. We have nothing to report in this regard. 
 
Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with 
IFRS,  and  for  such  internal  control  as management  determines  is  necessary  to  enable  the  preparation  of  financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
   



 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company's ability to continue as a 
going  concern,  disclosing,  as  applicable,  matters  related  to  going  concern  and  using  the  going  concern  basis  of 
accounting unless management either  intends  to  liquidate  the Company or  to cease operations, or has no  realistic 
alternative but to do so.  
 
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process.  
  
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements  

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether  due  to  fraud  or  error,  and  to  issue  an  auditor's  report  that  includes  our  opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
Canadian GAAS will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error 
and are considered material  if,  individually or  in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to  influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.  
 
As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian GAAS, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional 
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:  
 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error,  design  and  perform  audit  procedures  responsive  to  those  risks,  and  obtain  audit  evidence  that  is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting  from  fraud  is  higher  than  for  one  resulting  from  error,  as  fraud  may  involve  collusion,  forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Company's internal control. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by management. 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on 
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may 
cast significant doubt on the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the 
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based 
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions 
may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern. 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, 
and whether  the  financial  statements  represents  the underlying  transactions  and events  in  a manner  that 
achieves fair presentation.  

 Obtain  sufficient appropriate audit evidence  regarding  the  financial  information of  the entities or business 
activities within the Company to express an opinion on the financial statements. We are responsible for the 
direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

 
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing 
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during 
our audit. 
   



 

We  also  provide  those  charged  with  governance  with  a  statement  that  we  have  complied  with  relevant  ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 
 
The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Sam Salty.  
 
SQUAR MILNER LLP 

 
Irvine, California 
July 1, 2020 



AUSTRALIS CAPITAL INC. 
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position 

(in Canadian Dollars) 

Nature of Operations (Note 1) 

Commitments and Contingencies (Note 22) 

Subsequent Events (Note 23) 

Approved on July 1, 2020 

Director   Director 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019

$ $

Assets

Current

Cash 20 7,646,919 5,576,170

Restricted cash 3, 20 8,685,581 18,939,324

Interest receivable 90,483 144,286

Accounts receivable 253,206 101,651

GST receivable 36,966 27,733

Prepaid expenses 332,324 215,989

Current portion of deposits 956,705 53,205

Subscriptions receivable - 2,195

Current portion of annuity receivable - SubTerra 5 53,081 122,318

Convertible debt instruments - BaM 13 1,553,055 2,928,638

Investment in associate held for sale 13 38,396 -

Intangible asset held for sale - Mr. Natural 8 382,000 -

Land held for sale 6, 14 2,977,532 2,773,635

Other current assets 9 709,350 -

23,715,598 30,885,144

Non-current

Marketable securities -  Wagner Dimas 12(a) - 1,854,007

Marketable securities -  Quality Green 12(b) 500,678 1,781,818

Marketable securities - Folium Biosciences 12(c) 796,163 3,980,811

Derivative financial instrument - Quality Green 12(b) - 145,455

Derivative financial instrument - BaM 13 - 6,524,858

Loans receivable - BaM 13 - 5,330,754

Investment in associates - BaM 13 10,500,148 9,223,456

Property, plant and equipment, net 9, 14 4,931,023 120,479

Intangible assets 15 14,775,466 3,458,166

Goodwill 7, 15 589,843 589,843

Annuity receivable - SubTerra 5 739,067 999,513

Long-term deposits 11 6,407,851 157,082

Right-of-use asset 22 744,502 -

TOTAL ASSETS 63,700,339 65,051,386

Liabilities

Current

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 20 1,968,003 972,442

Current portion of royalty payable - 69,555

Advances payable - related parties 19 617,275 591,187

Current portion of lease liability 22 141,563 -

Provisions 10 855,423 -

Liabilities Associated with Assets Held for Sale - Mr. Natural 8 293,208 -

3,875,472 1,633,184

Non-Current

Deferred gain on derivatives 13 - 2,282,141

Contingent consideration payable 7, 8, 9 1,448,493 231,310

Lease liability 22 610,350 17,787

Royalty payable 8 - 212,641

TOTAL LIABILITIES 5,934,315 4,377,063

Shareholders’ equity (deficit)

Share capital 16 74,650,429 56,305,201

Reserves 4, 16 10,264,001 8,373,736

Accumulated other comprehensive income 527,974 329,618

Accumulated deficit (27,676,380) (4,334,232)

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 57,766,024 60,674,323

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 63,700,339 65,051,386

Notes

/s/ Roger Swainson /s/ John Dover



AUSTRALIS CAPITAL INC. 
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss 

(in Canadian Dollars, except share amounts) 

 

  

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

 Notes 2020 2019

Income

Income-Services 18,515 28,134

Income-Consulting 202,967 101,625

221,482 129,759

Expenses

Consulting fees (570,187) (216,119)

Depreciation 14 (96,122) (10,025)

Depreciation - Leases 22 (178,272) -

Amortization - Intangibles 15 (326,851) -

Advertising and promotion (369,354) (432,938)

Office and administration (197,782) (149,455)

Insurance (555,159) (40,989)

Management fees (457,977) (2,339)

Professional fees (1,162,265) (517,075)

Regulatory and transfer agent fees (221,735) (127,334)

Share-based payments 16(d), 16(e) (5,339,280) (677,549)

Transaction costs - (408,405)

Travel and entertainment (326,787) (202,988)

Wages and benefits (4,817,497) (1,638,936)

(14,619,268) (4,424,152)

Loss from operations (14,397,786) (4,294,393)

Other items

Loss on debt settlement 4 - (2,112,590)

Gain (loss) on asset disposal (5,005) -

Gain (loss) on remeasurement of land held for sale 6 30,827 (1,632,322)

Impairment loss - SubTerra annuity receivable 5 (282,389) (278,169)

Loss on dilution and disposal of marketable securities 12(a) (1,389,172) (865,204)

Loss on investment in associate 13 (1,126,348) (504,413)

Recognition of deferred gain 13 2,282,141 997,207

Revaluation of contingent consideration 80,121 -

Loss on impairment - Intangible assets 8 (1,266,385) -

Goodwill impairment 7 - (1,055,000)

Loss on acquisition of Passport License 10 (855,423) -

Net change on investment at fair value through profit and loss 12, 13 (5,977,580) 5,183,773

Other income 225,693 143,735

Other expense - M&A 12(c) (1,363,261) -

Foreign exchange gain (loss) (37,787) 11,560

Interest and other expenses (119,456) (45,100)

Interest expense - Leases (77,099) -

Interest income  936,761 279,706

(8,944,362) 123,183

Net loss for the year (23,342,148) (4,171,210)

Other comprehensive income 

Foreign currency translation 146,381 329,618

Share of OCI from investment in associates 13 51,975 -

Comprehensive loss for the year (23,143,792) (3,841,592)

Net loss per share

  Basic and diluted                         (0.14)                         (0.04)

Weighted average number of shares outstanding

  Basic and diluted 162,361,059 94,372,433

Years Ended

March 31,



AUSTRALIS CAPITAL INC. 
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity 

(in Canadian Dollars, except share amounts) 

 

  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

# $ $ $ $ $ $

Balance, March 31, 2018                             100                             100                               -                                 -                                 -                      (163,022)                    (162,922)

Repurchase of shares                           (100)                               -    -  -  -  -                               -   

Units issued for debt settlement                 18,567,070                   3,713,414  -                      906,463  -  -                   4,619,877 

Shares issued for private placement               100,862,706                 42,349,281  -                   6,861,975                               -    -                 49,211,256 

Share issuance costs                               -                      (463,067)  -                    (119,559)                               -                                 -                      (582,626)

Shares issued for acquisition of SubTerra                   8,235,294                   1,647,059  -                      402,055  -  -                   2,049,114 

Units issued for transaction costs - spin-out                   1,341,391                      268,278  -                        65,488  -  -                      333,766 

Restricted Back-in Right warrants - spin-out                               -                                 -    -                      500,000                               -                                 -                        500,000 

Shares issued for acquisition of Rthm assets 7                   1,742,601                   2,840,440  -                               -    -  -                   2,840,440 

Units issued for acquisition of Wagner Dimas 12(a)                      738,916                   1,093,596  -                      125,616  -  -                   1,219,212 

Shares issued for acquisition of Mr. Natural assets 8                      533,981                      550,000  -                               -                                 -                                 -                        550,000 

Exercise of warrants                 13,040,995                   3,896,923  -                    (636,674)                               -                                 -                     3,260,249 

Share-based payments                               -                        409,177                      268,372                               -                                 -                                 -                        677,549 

Net loss for the period                               -                                 -                                 -                                 -                                 -                   (4,171,210)                 (4,171,210)

Other comprehensive gain for the period                               -                                 -                                 -                                 -                        329,618                               -                        329,618 

Balance, March 31, 2019 145,062,954 56,305,201 268,372 8,105,364 329,618 (4,334,232) 60,674,323 

Shares issued for acquisition of Green Therapeutics, LLC 

assets 9
                  7,831,855                   7,322,241                               -                                 -                                 -                                 -                     7,322,241 

Shares issued for acquisition of land 9                   3,585,521                   3,944,073                               -                                 -                                 -                                 -                     3,944,073 

Finders fees 9                      109,090                      101,991                               -                                 -                                 -                                 -                        101,991 

Shares issued for acquisition of Intangible Asset Passport 

License 10
                  1,829,219                   1,058,626                               -                                 -                                 -                                 -                     1,058,626 

Exercise of warrants 16(c)                   9,999,838                   2,988,162                               -                      (488,202)                               -                                 -                     2,499,960 

Warrant forfeitures 16(c)                               -                        249,130                               -                      (249,130)                               -                                 -                                 -   

Exercise of stock options, net of withholding 16(d)                      759,353                      130,613                    (121,133)                               -                                 -                                 -                            9,480 

Vesting of RSUs, net of withholding 16(e)                      766,167                    (110,663)                               -                                 -                                 -                                 -                      (110,663)

Share-based payments 16(d), 16(e)                               -                     2,661,055                   2,748,730                               -                                 -                                 -                     5,409,785 

Net loss for the period                               -                                 -                                 -                                 -                                 -                 (23,342,148)               (23,342,148)

Other comprehensive gain for the period                               -                                 -                                 -                                 -                        198,356                               -                        198,356 

Balance, March 31, 2020 169,943,997 74,650,429 2,895,969 7,368,032 527,974 (27,676,380) 57,766,024 

Accumulated Other 

Comprehensive 

Income

Accumulated Deficit Total EquityNotes Common shares Share capital Share-based reserves Warrant reserves



AUSTRALIS CAPITAL INC. 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 

(in Canadian Dollars) 

 

 
 

 

March 31, March 31,

Notes 2020 2019

 

Cash provided by (used in)

 Operating activities

 Net loss for the year              (23,342,148)                (4,171,210)

 Adjustments for non-cash items:

Depreciation                      96,122                      10,025 

Depreciation - leases                    178,272                              -   

Interest income - leases                     (16,124)                              -   

Amortization of intangibles 15                    326,851                              -   

Share-based payments 16(d), 16(e)                 5,409,785                    677,549 

Loss on debt settlement 4(a)                              -                   2,112,590 

Gain (loss) on asset disposal                        5,005                              -   

Gain (loss) on remeasurement of land held for sale 6                     (30,827)                 1,632,322 

Impairment loss - SubTerra annuity receivable 5                    282,389                    278,169 

Loss on dilution and disposal of marketable securities 12(a)                 1,389,172                    865,204 

Loss on investment in associates 13                 1,126,348                    504,413 

Recognition of deferred gain 13                (2,282,141)                   (997,207)

Revaluation of Contingent Consideration                     (80,121)                              -   

Impairment of intangible assets 8                 1,266,385                              -   

Goodwill Impairment 7                              -                   1,055,000 

Loss on acquisition of Passport License 10                    855,423                              -   

Net gain/(loss) on investments at fair value through profit and loss 12, 13                 5,977,580                (5,183,773)

Unrealized foreign currency gain/loss                    107,211                              -   

Changes in non-cash working capital 

Interest receivable                      53,803                   (265,914)

Accounts receivable and others                     (28,565)                   (236,575)

GST receivable                       (9,233)                     (27,733)

Annuity receivable - SubTerra                      47,294                              -   

Prepaid expenses and deposits                   (476,409)                   (412,643)

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities                    928,130                 1,353,804 

Payments of royalty - Mr. Natural                   (107,477)                              -   

Net cash used in operating activities                (8,323,275)                (2,805,979)

Investing activities

Acquisition of assets - AHL 6                              -                     (657,739)

Net cash outflow from acquisition of Rthm 7                              -                     (454,332)

Purchase of interest in investment in associate 13                (6,396,920)                (9,036,271)

Issuance of Convertible Note to BaM 13                              -                  (1,600,000)

Proceeds/(Issuance) of BaM loan 13                 5,340,000                (5,340,000)

Purchase of marketable securities 12                              -                  (7,480,811)

Acquisition of assets -  Mr. Natural 8                              -                     (658,640)

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 14                   (704,576)                   (130,641)

Acquisition of License Agreement with Passport Technology 10                   (493,264)                              -   

Proceeds from sale of investments in associates held for sale 13                    153,217                              -   

Net cash used in investing activities                (2,101,543)              (25,358,434)

Financing activities

Lease liability (principal) 22                   (129,790)                              -   

Shares issued for cash, net of share issuance costs                              -                 48,626,435 

Issuance of Restricted Back-in Right warrants                              -                      500,000 

Exercise of warrants 16(c)                 2,502,156                 3,260,249 

Exercise of stock options 16(d)                    186,600                              -   

Payment of tax withholdings upon settlement of options and restricted 

stock unit awards
                  (287,280)                              -   

Net cash provided by financing activities                 2,271,686               52,386,684 

For the Years Ended



AUSTRALIS CAPITAL INC. 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 

(in Canadian Dollars) 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

Effect of foreign exchange on cash and restricted cash                     (29,863)                    293,223 

Increase (decrease) in cash and restricted cash                (8,182,994)               24,515,494 

Cash and restricted cash, beginning of year               24,515,494                              -   

Cash and restricted cash, end of year               16,332,500               24,515,494 

Supplementary Information:

Cash paid for Interest 104,990                                                -   

Cash received for interest 990,564                                      135,420 

Cash received for dividends 24,675                                          50,249 



AUSTRALIS CAPITAL INC. 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Years ended March 31, 2020 and 2019 

 

1 

1. Nature of Operations  

 

Australis Capital Inc. (the “Company” or “ACI”) was incorporated under the Business Corporations Act (Alberta).   

 

The head office and principal address of the Company is 376 East Warm Springs Road, Suite 190, Las Vegas, Nevada, 

USA 89119.  The Company’s registered and records office address is Suite 1500 – 1055 West Georgia Street, Vancouver, 

BC V6E 4N7.  The Company identifies, acquires, invests in, and operates companies in the cannabis industry in the United 

States and abroad, with a specific focus on technology, synthesizing decades of relevant expertise, strategic alignments, 

and capital investment to identify, acquire, and partner with companies setting the high-quality standards required to meet 

the growing market demand. Investments include equity, debt, or other securities of both public and private companies and 

control share acquisitions.   

 

The Company filed a preliminary prospectus dated June 19, 2018 and filed a final prospectus dated August 14, 2018, for 

the spin-out of the Company by Aurora Cannabis Inc. (“ACB”), its former parent company. On August 16, 2018, the 

Company received a receipt for its final prospectus, and on September 19, 2018, ACB completed a distribution of the 

Company’s shares and warrants. The Company’s shares and warrants commenced trading on the Canadian Securities 

Exchange (the “CSE”) on September 19, 2018 under the trading symbol “AUSA” (Note 4).  On February 6, 2019, the 

Company’s common shares commenced trading on the OTCQB® Venture Market under the ticker symbol “AUSAF.”  

 

On July 12, 2018, the Company incorporated Australis Capital (Nevada) Inc. (“ACN”) in the State of Nevada. On July 17, 

2018, the Company, through ACN, acquired the remaining 50% interest in Australis Holdings LLP (“AHL”) from its joint 

venture partner, AJR Builders Group LLC (“AJR”), such that ACI owns 98.7% of AHL and ACN owns the remaining 1.3%  

(Note 6).  On November 2, 2018, the Company completed the acquisition of all of the issued and outstanding shares of 

Rthm Technologies Inc. (“Rthm”) (Note 7).  On February 22, 2019, the Company formed Australis Perennial, LLC 

(“Perennial”) in the State of Nevada. On May 15, 2019, the Company formed Australis Prosper, LLC (“Prosper”) and 

Australis Terrain, LLC (“Terrain”) in the State of Nevada. On November 8, 2019, the Company formed Cocoon 

Technology, LLC (“Cocoon”) in the State of Nevada. 

 

2. Basis of Presentation and Significant Accounting Policies 

 

(a) Basis of presentation 

 

The consolidated financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 

Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and interpretations of 

the IFRS Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”) in effect for the years ended March 31, 2020 and 2019. 

 

These consolidated financial statements were approved and authorized for issue by the Board of Directors of the Company 

on July 1, 2020.  

 

(b) Basis of measurement 

 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis except for certain financial assets held 

at fair value through profit or loss or fair value through other comprehensive income. 

 

(c) Basis of consolidation   

 

These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries (as 

described below) with intercompany balances and transactions eliminated on consolidation. Subsidiaries over which the 

Company has control are fully consolidated from the date control commences until the date control ceases. Control exists 

when the Company is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and can use its power 

to affect its returns. As of March 31, 2020, the Company has 100% control over the following entities, with Australis 

Capital, Inc., as the parent entity: 

 



AUSTRALIS CAPITAL INC. 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Years ended March 31, 2020 and 2019 

 

2 

Entity Location Functional Currency

Australis Capital Inc. (ACI) Nevada (USA) Canadian Dollar

Australis Capital (Nevada) Inc. (ACN) Nevada (USA) U.S. Dollar

Australis Holdings LLP (AHL) Washington (USA) U.S. Dollar

Rthm Technologies Inc. Ontario (Canada) Canadian Dollar

Australis Perennial LLC Nevada (USA) U.S. Dollar

Australis Prosper LLC Nevada (USA) U.S. Dollar

Australis Terrain LLC Nevada (USA) U.S. Dollar

Cocoon Technology LLC Nevada (USA) U.S. Dollar  
 

(d) Functional and presentation of foreign currency  

 

All amounts on the consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, unless otherwise noted.  The 

functional currencies of the Company and its subsidiaries are noted in the above table (Note 2.c). 

 

(e) Foreign currency translation 

 

Foreign currency transactions are translated into Canadian dollars at exchange rates in effect on the date of the transactions. 

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the statement of financial position date are translated 

to Canadian dollars at the foreign exchange rate applicable at that date. Realized and unrealized exchange gains and losses 

are recognized in the statements of comprehensive loss. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of 

historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. 

 

On consolidation, financial statements of subsidiaries for which the functional currency is not the Canadian dollar are 

translated into Canadian dollar as follows: all asset and liability accounts are translated at the exchange rate in effect on the 

statement of financial position date and all earnings and expense accounts and cash flow statement items are translated at 

average exchange rates for the period. The resulting translation gains and losses are recorded as foreign currency translation 

adjustments in other comprehensive income and recorded in the currency translation reserve in equity. On disposal of a 

foreign operation the cumulative translation adjustments recognized in equity are reclassified to the statement of 

comprehensive loss and recognized as part of the gain or loss on disposal.  

 

Foreign exchange gains or losses arising from a monetary item receivable from or payable to a foreign operation, the 

settlement of which is neither planned nor likely to occur in the foreseeable future and which in substance is considered to 

form part of the net investment in the foreign operation, are recognized in other comprehensive income in the translation 

reserve. 

 

(f) Cash and cash equivalents 

 

Cash and cash equivalents are financial assets that are measured at amortized cost. Cash and cash equivalents include 

restricted cash, cash deposits in financial institutions and other deposits that are readily convertible into cash. The Company 

made an accounting policy change during the year-ended March 31, 2020 to include restricted cash as a component of cash 

and cash equivalents in order to provide more relevant information about the effects of restricted cash conditions and 

transactions on the Company’s cash flows. The Company voluntarily imposed certain investment restrictions on the use of  

funds, the restrictions of which were lifted during the year-ended March 31, 2020 by way of shareholder vote and are 

pending final approval from the British Columbia Securities Commission (Note 3). The accounting policy change has been 

applied retrospectively to the Company’s consolidated statement of cash flows and related disclosures, such that the 

comparative amount for prior periods presented, reflects the change in accounting policy.  

 

(g) Marketable securities 

 

The Company classifies investments in marketable securities as fair value through profit and loss (“FVTPL”) financial 

assets. Marketable securities are non-derivative financial assets. They are initially and subsequently measured at fair value 
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and the changes in fair value are recorded in profit or loss. Directly attributable transaction costs on acquisition are expensed 

as incurred. 

 

The Company applies the residual method in allocating the investment cost of unit private placements to the underlying 

common share and warrant (derivative) components, unless the transaction price does not approximate fair value. In such 

cases, each component of the investment is measured at fair value with the difference between fair value at initial 

recognition and the transaction price recognized in either profit or loss or deferred, depending on whether the valuation 

inputs are based on observable market data. Subsequent changes in fair value are recognized in profit or loss for the period. 

 

Derivatives  

 

The Company classifies derivative investments as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. At initial recognition, 

the investment is recognized at fair value. If the transaction price does not equal fair value, management measures the fair 

value of the investment and any unrealized gains or losses at inception is either recognized in profit or loss or deferred, 

depending on whether the valuation inputs are based on observable market data. Subsequent changes in fair value are 

recognized in profit or loss for the period.  

 

(h) Convertible debentures 

 

Convertible debenture investments are hybrid instruments which are classified as financial assets at fair value through profit 

or loss. The convertible note can be converted into equity. Upon initial recognition, the investment is recognized at fair 

value with directly attributable transaction costs expensed as incurred. If the transaction price does not equal fair value, 

management measures the fair value of each component of the investment and any unrealized gains or losses at inception 

is either recognized in profit or loss or deferred and recognized over the term of the financial instrument, depending on 

whether the valuation inputs are based on observable market data. Subsequent changes in fair value are recognized in profit 

or loss. 

 

(i) Assets held for sale 

 

Non-current assets held for sale are presented separately in the current assets section of the consolidated statement of 

financial position when management is committed to selling the asset or disposal group in its present condition, and this 

sale is highly probable and expected to be completed within one year. Liabilities of a disposal group classified as held for 

sale shall be presented separately from other liabilities in the current liabilities section of the consolidated statement of 

financial position. Immediately before the initial classification of the assets and disposal groups as held for sale or for 

distribution, the carrying amounts of the assets, or all the assets and liabilities in the disposal groups, are measured in 

accordance with the applicable accounting policy.  

 

Assets held for sale and disposal groups are subsequently measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less 

cost to sell. Assets held for sale are no longer amortized or depreciated. 

 

(j) Property, plant, and equipment 

 

Property, plant, and equipment is measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, if any. Cost 

includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. Depreciation is calculated on a straight-

line basis over the following estimated useful lives: 

 

 
 

Asset Class Estimated Useful Life

Computer Equipment 3 years

Furniture and Fixtures 5 years

Production Equipment 5 years

Leasehold Improvements Lesser of 5 years or remaining lease term
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An asset’s residual value, useful life and depreciation method are reviewed at each financial year-end and adjusted if 

appropriate. Gains and losses on disposal of an item are determined by comparing the proceeds from disposal with the 

carrying amount of the item and are recognized in profit or loss. 

 

Impairment of property, plant, and equipment 

 

The Company assesses impairment on property, plant, and equipment when an indication of impairment occurs, such as 

evidence of obsolescence or physical damage. In assessing impairment, the Company compares the carrying amount to the 

recoverable amount which is determined as the higher of the asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. 

Value in use is assessed based on the estimated future cash flows, discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount 

rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment 

loss is recognized whenever the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable amount and is recorded in the 

consolidated statements of comprehensive loss.  

 

(k) Investments in associates 

 

Associates are companies over which the Company has significant influence and are accounted for under the equity method. 

Significant influence is assumed when the Company has 20% - 49% ownership interest, unless qualitative factors overcome 

this assumption. In assessing significant influence, potential voting rights that are currently exercisable are taken into 

account. 

 

Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method and are initially recognized at cost, exclusive of 

financial assets that are not in-substance common shares, and inclusive of transaction costs. When the Company holds 

derivative financial assets and subsequently obtains significant influence in that investee, the fair value of the financial 

instruments is reclassified to investments in associates as the deemed cost with the cumulative unrealized gains or losses in 

other comprehensive income (loss), if any, transferred to deficit. For each additional acquisition of ownership interest within 

the investment in associate classification and prior to obtaining control, the difference between the cost of the incremental 

investment acquired and the investee’s fair value of identifiable net assets is allocated to goodwill. The carrying amount of 

goodwill arising from the acquisition of associates is included in the carrying amount of the investments in associates.  

 

The consolidated financial statements include the Company's share of the income and expenses and equity movement of 

equity accounted investees. In accordance with IFRS, the investee’s most recent available financial statements are used in 

the application of the equity method. Where the investee’s reporting period differs from the Company’s, the investee 

prepares financial information as of the same period end as the Company, unless it is impracticable to do so. Otherwise, the 

Company will adjust for its share of income and expenses and equity movement based on the investee’s most recently 

completed financial statements, adjusted for the effects of significant transactions. The Company does not recognize losses 

exceeding the carrying value of its interest in the associate. 

 

Impairment of investments in associates  

 

The entire carrying amount of the investment is assessed for indicators of impairment annually. An impairment test is 

performed when there is objective evidence of impairment, such as significant adverse changes in the environment in which 

the equity-accounted investee operates or a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the investment below its 

carrying amount. An impairment loss is recorded when the recoverable amount becomes lower than the carrying amount. 

 

(l) Intangible assets and goodwill 

 

Intangible assets are recorded at cost less accumulated amortization and impairment losses, if any. Intangible assets acquired 

in a business combination are measured at fair value at the acquisition date. Amortization of definite life intangibles is 

provided on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives, which do not exceed the contractual period, if any, over 

the following terms:  
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The estimated useful lives, residual values, and amortization methods are reviewed at each year end, and any changes in 

estimates are accounted for prospectively. Intangible assets with an indefinite life or not yet available for use are not subject 

to amortization. The Company’s indefinite life intangible assets are comprised of a brand and production and cultivation 

licenses. The Company’s intangible assets not yet available for use are comprised of software and the intellectual property 

license. 

 

Research costs are expensed as incurred. Development expenditures are capitalized only if development costs can be 

measured reliably, the product or process is technically and commercially feasible, future economic benefits are probable, 

and the Company intends to and has sufficient resources to complete development to use or sell the asset. Other development 

expenditures are recognized as research and development expenses on the consolidated statement of comprehensive loss as 

incurred. Capitalized development costs, if any, are internally generated intangible assets. Intangible assets with finite lives 

are amortized when available for use. 

 

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price paid for the acquisition of an entity over the fair value of the net 

tangible and intangible assets acquired. Goodwill is allocated to the cash generating unit (“CGU”) or group of CGUs which 

are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.  

 

Impairment of intangible assets and goodwill  

 

Goodwill and intangible assets with an indefinite life or not yet available for use are tested for impairment annually, and 

whenever events or circumstances make it more likely than not that an impairment may have occurred, such as a significant 

adverse change in the business climate or a decision to sell or dispose all or a portion of a reporting unit. Finite life intangible 

assets are tested when there is an indication of impairment. 

 

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill and intangible assets with an indefinite life or not yet available for use have 

been allocated to CGUs representing the lowest level that the assets are monitored for internal reporting purposes. All 

goodwill (Note 7) and the intangible assets not ready for use of Software (Note 7) and Intellectual Property License (Note 

10) are allocated to the Technology CGU, synonymous with the Company’s technology operating Segment (Note 2(u) and 

18). The indefinite life intangible asset of a brand is allocated to the Mr. Naturals CGU (Note 8). The indefinite life 

intangible asset of cultivation and production licenses is allocated to the Green Therapeutics CGU (Note 9).  

 

No impairment loss was recognized for goodwill, nor for the intangible assets of cultivation and production licenses, 

Intellectual Property License, and Software for the period ended March 31, 2020. An impairment loss of $1,266,385 was 

recognized upon classification as held for sale, for the indefinite life intangible asset brand at March 31, 2020, reducing the 

carrying value to its fair value less cost to sell of $382,000 (March 31, 2019: $1,648,031) (Note 8).  

 

Goodwill and intangible assets with an indefinite life or not yet available for use are tested for impairment by comparing 

the carrying value of each CGU containing the assets to its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of 

the asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value-in-use. An impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which the 

asset’s carrying amount exceeds it recoverable amount. 

 

The Company performs the recoverability test using a discounted cash flow method, unless the asset has been designated 

as held for sale in which case, the Company uses the asset’s fair value less costs to sell. When applying the discounted cash 

flow valuation technique, the Company relies on a number of factors including business plans, forecasts for a period of no 

more than 5 years, and relevant market data. Due to the Company’s limited operating history, external sources of 

information are used to determine the appropriate values to assign to key assumptions used in the assessment. The Company 

Intangible Estimated Useful Life

Software 5 years

Intellectual Proprety License 10 years

Brands 10 years to Indefinite Life

Production and Cultivation Licenses Indefinite Life
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applies to the projected cash flows, a discount rate commensurate with the risk of the CGU. Changes in the conditions for 

these judgments and estimates may significantly affect the assessed recoverable amount of the CGU. 

 

Impairment losses recognized in respect of a CGU, if any, are first allocated to the carrying value of goodwill and any 

excess is allocated to the carrying amount of assets in the CGU on a pro rata basis. Any impairment is recorded in profit 

and loss in the period in which the impairment is identified. A reversal of an impairment loss for a CGU is allocated to the 

assets of the unit, except for goodwill, pro rata with the carrying amount of those assets. In allocating a reversal of an 

impairment loss, the carrying amount of an asset shall not be increased above the lower of its recoverable amount and the 

carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset in prior periods. 

Impairment losses on goodwill are not subsequently reversed. 

 

(m) Share capital  

 

Share capital issued as non-monetary consideration is recorded at an amount based on fair market value of the shares on 

the date of issue. Transaction costs directly attributable to the issuance of common shares are recognized as a deduction 

from equity.  

 

The Company issues share purchase warrants and options and uses the Black-Scholes valuation model to determine the 

grant-date fair value of the instrument issued. The fair value of options and warrants issued is recorded to reserves. Proceeds 

from the exercise of stock options or warrants together with amounts previously recorded in reserves over the vesting 

periods are recorded as share capital at exercise.  

 

(n) Loss per share 

 

Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the loss attributable to common shareholders of the Company by the weighted 

average number of common shares outstanding during the year. Diluted loss per share is determined by adjusting the loss 

attributable to common shareholders and the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the effects of 

dilutive instruments such as stock options and warrants. Stock options and warrants are dilutive when the Company has 

income from operations and the average market price of the common shares during the period exceeds the exercise price of 

the options and warrants. As the stock options and warrants would be anti-dilutive, they have been excluded from the diluted 

loss per share calculations for the years ended March 31, 2020 and March 31, 2019. 

 

(o) Revenue recognition 

 

Revenue consists of consulting fees and application download and subscription fees, which arise from contracts in which 

services are typically provided over time. The Company recognizes revenue in accordance with IFRS 15, Revenue from 

contracts with customers, measured based on the consideration to which the Company expects to be entitled in exchange 

for providing the services to its customers. The Company’s service contracts generally impose single performance 

obligations, each consisting of similar related services for each customer. Revenue is recorded as performance obligations 

are satisfied over time as the services are performed, measured using an output method.   

 

Deferred contract costs 

 

Contract costs are typically expensed as incurred. Contract costs are deferred if the costs are expected to be recoverable and 

if either of the following criteria is met: 

 

(i) The costs of obtaining the contract are incremental or explicitly chargeable to the customer;  

(ii) The fulfillment costs relate directly to the contract or an anticipated contract and generate or enhance the 

Company’s resources that will be used in satisfying performance obligations in the future. 
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(p) Related party transactions 

 

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the other party or exercise 

significant influence over the other party in making financial and operating decisions. Related parties may be individuals 

or corporate entities. A transaction is considered to be a related party transaction when there is a transfer of resources or 

obligations between related parties. 

 

(q) Share-based compensation 

 

Equity-settled share-based compensation to employees and others providing similar services are measured at the fair value 

of the equity instruments at the grant date. The Company uses the Black-Scholes valuation model to determine the grant 

date fair value of options granted. Inputs into the Black-Scholes valuation model include the expected term of the 

instrument, expected volatility, risk-free interest rate and dividend rate, and are determined by reference to the underlying 

terms of the instrument and the Company’s experience with similar instruments.  

 

Fair value is measured at grant date and is recognized on a graded-vesting basis over the period in which the instruments 

vest. At the end of each reporting period, the Company revises its estimate of the number of equity instruments expected to 

vest. The impact of the revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognized in profit or loss such that the cumulative 

expense reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to stock options reserve and share capital.  

 

Equity-settled share-based compensation transactions with parties other than employees are measured at the fair value of 

the goods or services received, except where that fair value cannot be estimated reliably, in which case they are measured 

at the fair value of the equity instruments granted, measured at the date the entity obtains the goods or the counterparty 

renders the service. 

 

On exercise, the value originally recorded in stock option and warrant reserves is recorded in share capital along with 

proceeds received from exercise. For those stock options that expire after vesting, the recorded value is transferred from 

stock option and warrant reserves to deficit. 

 

(r) Income taxes 

 

Tax expense recognized in profit or loss comprises the sum of current and deferred taxes not recognized in other 

comprehensive income or directly in equity. 

 

Current tax assets and/or liabilities comprise those claims from, or obligations to, fiscal authorities relating to the current 

or prior reporting periods that are unpaid at the reporting date. Current tax is payable on taxable profit, which differs from 

profit or loss in the financial statements. Calculation of current tax is based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted 

or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. 

 

Deferred taxes are calculated using the liability method on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets 

and liabilities and their tax bases. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated, without discounting, at tax rates that are 

expected to apply to their respective period of realization, provided they are enacted or substantively enacted by the end of 

the reporting period. Deferred tax liabilities are always provided for in full. 

 

Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable that they will be able to be utilized against future taxable 

income. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only when the Company has a right and intention to offset current tax 

assets and liabilities from the same taxation authority. 

 

Changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognized as a component of tax income or expense in profit or loss, except 

where they relate to items that are recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the related 

deferred tax is also recognized in other comprehensive income or equity, respectively. 
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(s) Business combinations 

 

A business combination is a transaction or event in which an acquirer obtains control of one or more businesses and is 

accounted for using the acquisition method. The total consideration paid for the acquisition is the aggregate of the fair 

values of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity instruments issued in exchange for control of the acquiree 

at the acquisition date. The acquisition date is the date where the Company obtains control of the acquiree. The identifiable 

assets acquired and liabilities assumed are recognized at their acquisition date fair values, except for deferred taxes and 

share-based payment awards where IFRS provides exceptions to recording the amounts at fair value. Acquisition costs are 

expensed to profit or loss.  

 

Contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair value and included as part of the consideration transferred 

in a business combination. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured at subsequent reporting 

dates and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration that is classified as an asset or 

a liability is remeasured at subsequent reporting dates in accordance with IFRS 9, Financial Instruments, or IAS 37 

Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, as appropriate, with the corresponding gain or loss being 

recognized in profit or loss. Prior year classification of the contingent consideration payable as a current liability, is 

presented in the current year as a long-term liability to reflect the Company’s forecasted timing of achievement of related 

milestones and related settlement of the contingent consideration payable. 

 

Non-controlling interest in the acquiree, if any, is recognized either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s 

proportionate share of the acquiree’s net assets, determined on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis. For each acquisition, the 

excess of total consideration, the fair value of previously held equity interest prior to obtaining control and the non-

controlling interest in the acquiree, over the fair value of the identifiable net asset acquired, is recorded as goodwill.   

 

Certain fair values may be estimated at the acquisition date pending confirmation or completion of the valuation process. 

Where provisional values are used in accounting for a business combination, they may be adjusted retrospectively in 

subsequent periods. The measurement period is the period from the acquisition date to the date complete information about 

facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date is received. However, the measurement period does not exceed 

one year from the acquisition date.  

 

(t) Asset acquisitions  

 

Acquisitions that do not meet the definition of a business combination are accounted for as an asset acquisition. 

Consideration paid for an asset acquisition includes the purchase price, and those transaction costs direct and incremental 

to complete the asset acquisition, such as finder’s fees. The consideration is allocated to the individual identifiable assets 

acquired and liabilities assumed based on their relative fair values. Asset acquisitions do not give rise to goodwill. 

 

(u)  Segment information 

 

The Company has two operating segments: Cannabis (ACI, AHL, ACN, Perennial, Terrain and Prosper) and Technology 

(Rthm and Cocoon). The cannabis segment involves expenditures incurred to develop a production and cultivation 

operation, including acquisition of premium brand names and intellectual property, construction of a cultivation and 

manufacturing facility, and minority investments in other cannabis operators. Technology encompasses operations of the 

Company’s wholly owned subsidiaries, Rthm Technologies, Inc and Cocoon Technology, LLC. 

 

The Company has identified its operating segments based on the financial information that is reviewed and used by 

executive management (collectively, the Chief Operating Decision Maker, or “CODM”) in assessing performance and in 

determining the allocation of resources. The Company’s CODM consists of CEO and CFO. The CODM considers the 

business from a single segment perspective and assesses the performance of the segment based on measures of profit and 

loss as well as assets and liabilities. These measures include revenue, operating expenditures, working capital, non-current 

assets and total debt. A start-up operation that has not yet earned revenues however, may be an operating segment. Further, 

operations which generate no revenues and are incidental to the business activities will not be separate operating segments. 

Financial information about the operating segment is reported to the CODM on at least a quarterly basis.  



AUSTRALIS CAPITAL INC. 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Years ended March 31, 2020 and 2019 

 

9 

(v) Financial instruments 

 

Financial Assets  

 

(i) Classification 

 

Financial assets are classified into three categories based on measurement: 

 

o amortized cost;  

o measurement at fair value through other comprehensive income (“OCI”); and 

o measurement at fair value through profit and loss. 

 

This classification depends on the Company’s business model for managing its financial assets and contractual 

terms of the cash flows. 

 

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either be recorded in profit or loss or OCI.  For 

investments in equity instruments that are not held for trading, this will depend on whether the Company has 

made an irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition to account for the equity investment at fair value 

through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”). 

 

Furthermore, a financial asset is measured at fair value through profit or loss if:  

 

Its contractual terms do not give rise to cash flows on specified dates that are solely payments of principal and 

interest (SPPI) on the principal amount outstanding;  

 

Or  

 

It is not held within a business model whose objective is either to collect contractual cash flows, or to both 

collect contractual cash flows and sell;  

 

Or  

 

At initial recognition, it is irrevocably designated as measured at FVTPL when doing so eliminates or 

significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would otherwise arise from measuring 

assets or liabilities or recognizing the gains and losses on them on different bases.   

 

(ii) Recognition and derecognition 

 

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognized on their trade date, the date on which the 

Company commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are derecognized when the rights to receive 

cash flows from the financial assets have expired or have been transferred and the Company has transferred 

substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership. 

 

(iii) Measurement 

 

At initial recognition, the group measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset 

not at FVTPL, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. 

Transaction costs of financial assets carried at FVTPL are expensed in profit or loss. 

 

Subsequent measurement is as follows: 

 

Equity investments: All equity investments, which are not considered to be investments in associates, are 

subsequently measured at fair value through profit and loss. 
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Convertible debt instruments: These include investments that do not meet the SPPI test and therefore are 

valued at fair value through profit or loss  

 

Derivative financial instruments: Derivative Financial Instruments are initially and subsequently 

recorded at fair value through profit loss. 

 

Expected credit losses pursuant to accounts receivable: The Company recognizes loss allowances for 

Expected Credit Losses (“ECLs”) on its accounts receivable measured at amortized cost. Due to the 

nature of its financial assets, the Company measures loss allowances at an amount equal to expected 

lifetime ECLs. Lifetime ECLs are the anticipated ECLs that result from all possible default events over 

the expected life of a financial asset. ECLs are a probability‐weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit 

losses are measured as the present value of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows 

due to the entity in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Company expects to receive). 

ECLs are discounted at the effective interest rate of the related financial asset.  

 

Financial liabilities: 

 

(i) Classification 

 

Financial liabilities are classified into two categories based on measurement: 

 

o amortized cost; and 

o measurement at fair value through profit and loss. 

 

(ii) Recognition and derecognition 

 

Financial liabilities are derecognized when the obligation specified in the contract is either discharged or 

cancelled or expires. Where there has been an exchange between an existing borrower and lender of debt 

instruments with substantially different terms, or there has been a substantial modification of the terms of an 

existing financial liability, this transaction is accounted for as an extinguishment of the original financial 

liability and the recognition of a new financial liability. A gain or loss from extinguishment of the original 

financial liability is recognized in profit or loss. 

 

(iii) Measurement 

 

Financial liabilities held for trading are measured at FVTPL and all other financial liabilities are measured at 

amortized cost unless the fair value option is applied. 

 

Financial liabilities can be designated to be measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces 

a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would otherwise arise from measuring assets or liabilities or 

recognizing the gains and losses on them on different bases, or the liability is part of a group of financial 

liabilities or financial assets and financial liabilities that is managed and its performance is evaluated on a fair 

value basis, in accordance with a documented risk management or investment strategy, and information about 

the group is provided internally on that basis to the entity's key management personnel. 

 

(w) Significant accounting estimates and judgments 

 

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect 

the application of policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities, and revenue and expenses. The estimates and 

associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under 

the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the judgments about carrying values of assets and liabilities 

that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates. The estimates and 

underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the period 
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in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if 

the revision affects both current and future periods. 

 

Management has applied significant estimates and assumptions related to the following: 

 

Estimated useful lives, impairment considerations and amortization of capital and intangible assets 

 

Amortization of capital and intangible assets is dependent upon estimates of useful lives based on management’s judgment. 

At the end of each reporting period, the Company reviews the carrying amounts of its long-lived assets to determine whether 

there is any indication that the carrying amount is not recoverable. Impairment of definite long-lived assets is influenced 

by judgment in defining the CGU to which the asset belongs. The assessment of any impairment of these assets is dependent 

upon estimates of recoverable amounts that take into account factors such as economic and market conditions and the useful 

lives of assets,  

 

Impairment testing for indefinite life intangible assets and intangible assets not yet ready for use requires management to 

make critical estimates in the impairment testing model. On an annual basis, the Company tests whether indefinite life 

intangible assets or intangible assets not yet ready for use, are impaired. Estimation is required with respect to determining 

the recoverable amount of the intangibles as the calculation is based upon assumptions made by management, to estimate 

future cash flows, the cash flow growth rate, and the relevant discount rate. 

 

Many factors are used in assessing recoverable amounts for long-lived assets and are outside of the control of management. 

It is reasonably likely that assumptions and estimates will change from period to period and these changes may result in 

future impairments. 

 

Share-based compensation and warrants 

 

The fair value of share-based compensation and warrants are estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model and 

rely on a number of estimates made at the initial grant date, such as the expected life of the option or warrant, the volatility 

of the Company’s future share price, the risk-free rate of return, and the estimated rate of forfeiture for options granted. 

 

Taxes 

 

Provisions for taxes are made using the best estimate of the amount expected to be paid based on a qualitative assessment 

of all relevant factors. The Company reviews the adequacy of these provisions at the end of the reporting period. However, 

it is possible that at some future date an additional liability could result from audits by taxing authorities. Where the final 

outcome of these tax‑related matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will affect 

the tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made.   

 

In assessing the probability of realizing income tax assets, management makes estimates related to expectations of future 

taxable income, applicable tax planning opportunities, expected timing of reversals of existing temporary differences, and 

the likelihood that tax positions taken will be sustained upon examination by applicable tax authorities.  In making its 

assessments, management gives additional weight to positive and negative evidence that can be objectively verified.  

Estimates of future taxable income are based on forecasted cash flows from operations and the application of existing tax 

laws in each jurisdiction.  The Company considers whether relevant tax planning opportunities are within the Company’s 

control, are feasible, and are within management’s ability to implement.  Examination by applicable tax authorities is 

supported based on individual facts and circumstances of the relevant tax position examined in light of all available 

evidence.  Where applicable tax laws and regulations are either unclear or subject to ongoing varying interpretations, it is 

reasonably possible that changes in these estimates can occur that materially affect the amounts of income tax assets 

recognized.  Also, future changes in tax laws could limit the Company from realizing the tax benefits from the deferred tax 

assets.  The Company reassesses unrecognized income tax assets at each reporting period. 
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Expected credit losses 

 

The Company measures expected credit losses in accordance with IFRS 9, Financial Instruments. Under this approach, the 

Company estimates the lifetime expected credit losses of financial instruments. In the case of an expected credit loss, the 

Company creates an impairment. 

 

Financial instruments 

 

The Company reviews the fair value of investments at the end of each reporting period to determine if the fair value of the 

investment recorded, remains representative of the fair value at the reporting date. In addition to investment-specific 

information, the Company considers general market trends, conditions and transactions. Financial information for private 

companies in which the Company has investments may not be available and, even if available, that information may be 

limited and/or unreliable. Use of the valuation approach described below may involve uncertainties and determinations 

based on the Company’s judgment and any value estimated from these techniques may not be realized or realizable. 

 

The fair value of investments may be adjusted if: 

 

(i) There has been a significant subsequent equity financing provided by outside investors at a valuation different 

than the current value of the investee company, in which case the fair value of the investment is set to the value at 

which that financing took place 

 

(ii) There have been significant corporate, political or operating events affecting the investee company that, in 

management’s opinion, have a material impact on the investee company’s prospects and therefore its fair value 

 

(iii) The investee company is placed into receivership or bankruptcy 

 

(iv) Based on financial information received from the investee company, it is apparent to the Company that the investee 

company is unlikely to be able to continue as a going concern 

 

(v) The investee company makes important positive/negative management changes that the Company’s management 

believes will have a positive/negative impact on the investee company’s ability to achieve its objectives and build 

value for shareholders 

 

CGU Determination 

 

The Company determines its CGUs in accordance with IAS 36, Impairment of Assets, defined as the smallest group of 

assets that independently generate cash flow and whose cash flow is largely independent of the cash flows generated by 

other assets. 

 

Functional currency  

 

The determination of an entity’s functional currency is a matter of judgment based on an assessment of the specific facts 

and circumstances relevant to determining the primary economic environment of each individual entity within the group. 

The Company reconsiders the functional currencies used when there is a change in events or conditions considered in 

determining the primary economic environment of each entity. 

 

Business combination or asset acquisition 

 

Classification of an acquisition as a business combination or asset acquisition depends on whether the assets acquired 

constitute a business, which can be a complex judgment. Whether an acquisition is classified as a business combination or 

asset acquisition can have a significant impact on the entries made on and after acquisition. The most significant estimates 

for a business combination or an asset acquisition involve contingent consideration and intangible assets. Management 
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exercises judgment in estimating the probability and timing of when earn-outs are expected to be achieved which is used 

as the basis for estimating fair value. 

 

In a business combination, all identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired are recorded at their fair 

values. In an asset acquisition, all identifiable assets are recorded at their fair values. One of the most significant estimates 

relates to the determination of the fair value of these assets and liabilities. Management exercises judgement in applying 

the concentration test to determine whether substantially all of the fair value of gross assets acquired is concentrated in a 

single asset (or a group of similar assets). 

 

For any intangible asset identified, depending on the type of intangible asset and the complexity of determining its fair 

value, an independent valuation expert or management may develop the fair value, using appropriate valuation techniques, 

which are generally based on a forecast of the total expected future net cash flows. The evaluations are linked closely to the 

assumptions made by management regarding the future performance of the assets concerned and any changes in the discount 

rate applied. 

 

Certain fair values may be estimated at the acquisition date pending confirmation or completion of the valuation process. 

Where provisional values are used in accounting for a business combination, they may be adjusted retrospectively in 

subsequent periods. However, the measurement period will last for no more than one year from the acquisition date. 

 

(x) New or amended standards adopted   

 

The Company adopted the following new or amended IFRS standards for the annual period beginning April 1, 2019. 

 

(i) Amendments to IFRS 3, Business Combinations 

 

IASB has issued on October 22, 2018 amendments to IFRS 3, which relate to the definition of a business. The 

amendments are as follows: 

 

o Clarify that to be considered a business, an acquired set of activities and assets must include, at a 

minimum, an input and a substantive process that together significantly contribute to the ability to create 

outputs;  

o Remove the assessment of whether market participants are capable of replacing any missing inputs or 

processes and continuing to produce outputs; 

o Add guidance and illustrative examples to help entities assess whether a substantive process has been 

acquired;  

o Narrow the definitions of a business and of outputs by focusing on goods and services provided to 

customers and by removing the reference to an ability to reduce costs; and  

o Add an optional concentration test that permits a simplified assessment of whether an acquired set of 

activities and assets is not a business.  

 

The amendments are effective for business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning 

of the first annual reporting period on or after January 1, 2020 and to asset acquisitions that occur on or after the 

beginning of that period. Early adoption of this amendment is permitted. The Company has adopted the 

amendment as of April 1, 2018. 

 

(ii) IFRS 16, Leases 

 

IFRS 16 replaces the following standards and interpretations: IAS 17, Leases, IFRIC 4, Determination of whether 

an Arrangement contains a Lease, SIC-15, Operating Leases - Incentives, SIC-27, Evaluation of the substance of 

transactions that involve the legal form of a leasing contract. 

 

This new standard requires the lessee to recognize all leases in a similar way to how financial leases are currently 

recorded under IAS 17. The standard includes two exceptions for this recognition: (1) leases of low-value assets 
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(e.g. personal computers) and (2) short-term contracts (term of less than 12 months). The lessee recognizes at lease 

inception, the asset that represents the right of use and the liability for the periodic payments that must be made. 

Interest expense is recorded separately from depreciation. The lease asset is periodically assessed and adjusted for 

certain remeasurements of the lease liability and impairment losses, if any. The lease liability is initially measured 

at the present value of outstanding lease payments, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease, or if that 

rate cannot be readily determined, the Company’s incremental borrowing rate. The recognition requirements for 

the lessor are not significantly different from IAS 17. 

 

Areas that could be impacted include indicators of EBIT, debt covenants, debt and financing indicators, and the 

presentation of cash flows, for which principal lease payments would be presented as financing and not operating 

activities. 

 

Substantially all of the Company’s operating leases are real estate leases for office premises. As a lessee, the 

Company will recognize right-of-use assets and lease liabilities primarily for its operating leases of real estate 

properties. The depreciation expense on right-of-use assets and interest expense on lease liabilities will replace 

rent expense, previously recognized on a straight-line basis. The standard will be effective for annual periods 

beginning on or after January 1, 2019, with earlier application permitted for entities that apply IFRS 15, at or 

before the date of initial adoption of IFRS 16. 

 

The Company adopted the standard on April 1, 2019 using the modified retrospective approach. The modified 

retrospective approach applies the requirements of the standard retrospectively with the cumulative effects of 

initial application recorded in opening retained earnings as at April 1, 2019, and no restatement of the comparative 

period.  

 

On transition to IFRS 16, the Company recognized a right-of-use asset of $880,306, a corresponding lease liability 

of $838,649 and derecognized $17,787 of deferred rent. The lease liability was measured at the present value of 

outstanding lease payments, discounted using its incremental borrowing rate of 12.0%. 

 

Management has recognized the present value of the operating lease commitments (described in Note 22) as right-

of-use assets and corresponding lease liabilities. 

 

(iii) IFRIC 23, Uncertainty of Income Tax Treatment 

 

In June 2017, the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) issued an International Financial Reporting 

Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) interpretation incorporated into Part I of the CPA Canada Handbook – 

Accounting by the Accounting Standards Board (AcSB) to clarify the accounting for uncertainties in income taxes. 

IAS 12 Income Taxes provides requirements on the recognition and measurement of current or deferred income 

tax liabilities and assets. However, it does not provide a specific requirement for the accounting for income tax 

when the application of tax law to a particular transaction or circumstance is uncertain. As a result, the 

interpretation aims to reduce the diversity in how entities recognize and measure a tax liability or tax asset when 

there is uncertainty over income tax treatments. The interpretation is effective for annual periods beginning on or 

after January 1, 2019.  

 

There is no material impact to the Company on adoption of IFRIC 23. 
 

3. Restricted Cash 

 

(a) On September 17, 2018, the Company entered into an escrow agreement with its former transfer agent whereby the 

Company deposited into an interest bearing account $12,000,000 (“Restricted Funds”) to be held and distributed upon 

written notice from the Company or in five years from the date of the escrow agreement. The terms of the escrow 

agreement include restrictions self-imposed by the Company, stating that in order for funds to be released from escrow, 

the Company must certify to the escrow agent that such funds are being used for investments made in accordance with 

the Company’s investment policy. During the Company’s Annual General Meeting held September 2019, shareholders 
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of the Company approved a lift on these restrictions surrounding release of funds. Formal removal of the restrictions 

is currently pending approval from the British Columbia Securities Commission. At March 31, 2020, $8,395,919 was 

held in trust ($12,088,339 as at March 31, 2019). 

 

(b) On October 25, 2018 and November 27, 2018, the Company completed a non-brokered private placement of 

14,778,255 units and 1,084,451 units, respectively, at a price of $2.03 per unit for aggregate gross proceeds of 

$32,201,293 (net of an aggregate foreign exchange difference of $9,964). The Company established an interest-bearing 

trust account with McMillan LLP and deposited the proceeds to be held and released upon written notice from the 

Company (Refer to Note 16(b)(v) and in accordance with the same terms outlined in Note 3(a).  At March 31, 2020, 

$289,662 was held in trust ($6,850,985 as at March 31, 2019). 

 

4.   Spin-out Transaction  

 

The Company filed a preliminary prospectus dated June 19, 2018 and filed a final prospectus dated August 14, 2018 with 

the securities regulatory authorities in each of the provinces and territories in Canada for the spin-out of the Company by 

ACB, and applied for its listing on the CSE (the “Spin-out Transaction”).  

 

On August 16, 2018, the Company received a receipt for its final prospectus and on September 19, 2018, ACB completed 

a distribution to holders of its common shares, as of the record date of August 24, 2018, as a return of capital, units of the 

Company (the “Distribution”). Each unit consisted of one common share and one warrant exercisable at $0.25 per share for 

a period of one year expiring September 19, 2019. The Distribution was paid on the basis of one unit for every thirty-four 

shares of ACB outstanding as of the record date. As of the date of expiration of the warrants, 23,040,833 were exercised 

and 5,102,922 were forfeited (Note 16(c)). 

 

(a) In connection with the Distribution, the Company completed the following transactions: 

 

(i) On April 10, 2015, the Company entered into a promissory note with ACB, in the principal amount of $1,644,831.  

The note bore interest at 5% per annum and matured on October 31, 2018. The note was secured by a general 

security agreement granting ACB security over all present and after-acquired property of the Company. On 

October 31, 2017, the Company received a further $1,235,221 loan from ACB.  The loan was due on demand, 

unsecured and bore no interest. 

 

During the year ending March 31, 2019, ACB assigned its interest in these loans to its wholly owned subsidiary, 

Aurora Marijuana Inc. (“AMI”). The Company issued 18,567,070 units to AMI at $0.20 per unit in settlement of 

the outstanding loans of $3,156,402 (Note 16(b)(i)) for a loss on settlement of $1,463,476 recorded in the 

consolidated statement of comprehensive loss. Each unit consists of one common share and one warrant 

exercisable at $0.25 per warrant 1 year from issuance, and were valued using a Black-Scholes option pricing model 

based on the following assumptions; 

 

Expected term: 1 year 

Interest rate: 2.13% 

Volatility: 80% 

Exercise price: $0.25 

Share price: $0.20 

 

(ii) The Company repurchased 100 of its shares of the Company from AMI for $0.20 per share, which were cancelled 

and returned to treasury. 

 

(iii) The Company acquired certain assets (“SubTerra Assets”) from Prairie Plant Systems Inc. (“PPS”), an indirect 

wholly owned subsidiary of ACB in exchange for a non-interest-bearing promissory note of $1,400,000, due on 

demand. Subsequently, the Company issued 8,235,294 units to ACB in settlement of the $1,400,000 promissory 

note. This is further described in Notes 4(c) and 16(b)(i).  
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(b) On June 14, 2018, the Company entered into a Funding Agreement with ACB pursuant to which ACB advanced 

$500,000 to the Company in consideration for which the Company provided ACB with the following share purchase 

warrants (the “Restricted Back-in Right”): 

 

(i) a warrant to purchase 20% of the issued and outstanding shares of the Company as of the date on which its shares 

commence trading on the CSE, exercisable at a price of $0.20 per share for a period of ten years from the date of 

issuance (22,628,751 warrants issued on September 19, 2018); and 

 

(ii) a warrant to purchase 20% of the issued and outstanding shares of the Company as of the date of exercise of the 

Restricted Back-in Right, which will be exercisable for a period of ten years from the date of issuance at an exercise 

price equal to the five-day volume weighted average trading price of the Company’s shares on the CSE or such 

other stock exchange on which the shares may then be listed at the time of exercise. 

 
ACB is prohibited from exercising the Restricted Back-in Right unless all of the Company’s business operations in the 

U.S. are legal under applicable federal and state laws and ACB has obtained the required consents of the TSX and other 

exchanges on which it may be listed at that time. The warrant described in (i) above meets the classification of an 

equity instrument and was initially recorded in reserves for the proceeds received of $500,000. The warrant described 

in (ii) above meets the classification of a derivative liability instrument, however it is assigned a fair value of nil. Since 

the exercise price approximates the trading price, there is no value assigned to the warrant. 

 

Pursuant to the terms of the Funding Agreement, ACB also funded the Company’s spin-out transaction costs of 

$235,294 in consideration for the Company issuing 1,176,470 units to ACB at a price of $0.20 per unit.  ACB purchased 

an additional 164,921 units for $32,984 under the Funding Agreement in order to hold sufficient units for the 

Distribution. Each unit consists of one common share and one warrant exercisable at $0.25 per warrant 1 year from 

issuance, and were valued using a Black-Scholes option pricing model based on the following assumptions; 

 

Expected term: 1 year 

Interest rate: 2.13% 

Volatility: 80% 

Exercise price: $0.25 

Share price: $0.20 

 

(c) In connection with the Spin-out Transaction, the Company acquired the SubTerra Assets from Prairie Plant Systems 

Inc. (“PPS”), which consisted of: 

 
o a 5% royalty on gross revenues of SubTerra earned annually from the sale of cannabis and cannabis-based products 

during the period commencing June 1, 2018 and ending May 31, 2028; 

 

o an annual payment of $150,000 from SubTerra during the period commencing June 1, 2018 and ending May 31, 

2028; and 

 

o a two-year option to purchase a parcel of land in Michigan, United States, for USD $3,000. 

 

SubTerra is a limited liability company organized under the laws of the State of Michigan. SubTerra operates a research 

facility located in White Pine, Michigan and has applied for a State of Michigan Class C Grower License and a State 

of Michigan Processor License for the production and processing of cannabis, respectively. SubTerra is currently not 

engaged in the production or processing of cannabis. 

  

In consideration for the SubTerra Assets, the Company issued a promissory note of $1,400,000 to PPS and PPS 

subsequently transferred the promissory note to ACB. The SubTerra Assets recognized included the fair value of the 

annuity receivable of $839,442 (Note 5). Subsequently, the promissory note was settled through the issuance of 

8,235,294 units of the Company to ACB which had a fair value of $2,049,114 (Note 16(b)(i)). 
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All of the units issued above consisted of one common share and one warrant of the Company, exercisable at a price 

of $0.25 per share for a period of one year from the date of the Company’s listing on the CSE, and were valued using 

a Black-Scholes option pricing model based on the following assumptions; 

 

Expected term: 1 year 

Interest rate: 2.13% 

Volatility: 80% 

Exercise price: $0.25 

Share price: $0.20 

 

5. SubTerra Note Receivable  

 

The fair value of the annuity receivable of $839,442 was determined using an annual payment of $150,000 for ten years, 

discounted at a market rate of 12.24% applicable to SubTerra based on a rating of CCC or less. As at March 31, 2019, the 

Company recognized this annuity stream as a USD receivable and therefore translated the $839,442 fair value to the 

Company’s functional currency, assigning a value of $1,121,831 using the USD to CAD spot rate as of the year then ended. 

Through review of the assignment agreement transferring rights to the annuity payments from PPS to the Company, the 

Company determined that the payments are to be settled in CAD and recorded an adjustment to fair value of $282,389 to 

correct the annuity receivable balance during the period ended September 30, 2019. As at March 31, 2020, the short-term 

portion and long-term portion of the annuity receivable balances are $53,081 and $739,067, respectively, adjusted for the 

first payment, inclusive of $102,706 in interest income, received from SubTerra during the twelve-months, then ended. 

Accretion for the year ended March 31, 2020 was $98,477 ($85,260 for the year ended March 31, 2019) with an interest 

receivable balance related to SubTerra of $81,031 as at March 31, 2020 ($85,260 as at March 31, 2019). 

 

The Company anticipates full payment of the annuity receivable and has recorded no provision for expected credit loss as 

of the period ended March 31, 2020. Further, the Company does not believe that the current coronavirus pandemic 

(“COVID-19”) will impact the recoverability of the annuity stream. 

 

6. Acquisition of AHL  

 

On April 7, 2015, the Company entered into a Limited Liability Partnership Agreement (“LLP Agreement”) with AJR and 

formed AHL, a Washington Limited Liability Partnership. Each of the Company and AJR held a 50% interest in AHL. 

Pursuant to the LLP Agreement, the Company contributed $624 (USD $500) to AHL as its initial capital contribution offset 

by the Company’s share of AHL’s loss.  As of March 31, 2018, the investment balance in AHL was $nil. 

 

AHL purchased two parcels of land in 2015 totaling approximately 24.5 acres (the “Property”) in Whatcom County, 

Washington for $3,033,010, with the initial intention to construct a new cannabis production and processing facility.  The 

Company subsequently decided not to move forward with U.S. cannabis production and listed the land for sale.   

 

Pursuant to a promissory note dated April 10, 2015, the Company loaned $1,644,831 to AHL to fund the purchase of the 

Property.  The note is secured, bears interest at a rate of 5% per annum, and matured on October 31, 2019. The accrued 

intercompany interest between the Company and AHL was eliminated upon consolidation. The carrying value of this loan 

was $2,011,252 on acquisition of AHL by the Company as described below. On October 31, 2017, the Company further 

loaned $1,235,221 to AHL. The loan is due on demand, unsecured and bears no interest. The carrying value of this loan 

was $1,263,219 on acquisition. The loan was used by AHL to fully settle the remaining loan on the property. 

 

On July 17, 2018, the Company acquired the remaining 50% interest in AHL from AJR resulting in the Company holding 

a 100% of the net assets of AHL. The transaction was accounted for as an asset acquisition. The Company acquired the 

remaining 50% interest in AHL for a total consideration of $3,935,871 consisting of: 
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The pre-existing relationship was made up of current balances for cash advanced to AHL and was measured at face value. 

As a result, fair value is deemed to be equivalent to the carrying value of the current balances. 

 

The allocation of the consideration to the fair value of the net assets acquired at the date of acquisition is as follows: 

 

 
 

The fair value of the land is determined by a third-party appraiser, based on an as-is market value of both parcels together 

which is a Level 2 input. As at close of the year of acquisition, or March 31, 2019, the land was classified as an asset held 

for sale, and was measured at USD $2,075,607 ($2,773,635 revalued using the period ended spot rate), which is its fair 

value less costs to sell as assessed by updating the initial appraisal to the measurement date. An impairment loss of 

$1,632,322 was recognized as of March 31, 2019.  

 

Although circumstances have extended the period of time to sell beyond one year, the Company continues to be committed 

to the sale of the land. The Company is working directly with potential buyers and expects to sell as of close of the third 

calendar quarter of 2020. Prior year classification of the asset held for sale as a long-term asset, is presented in the current 

year as a current asset based on the Company’s increased certainty surrounding completion of the sale. The fair value of 

the land as at the current year-ended, or March 31, 2020 was determined to be USD $2,098,775 ($2,977,532 revalued using 

the period ended spot rate) based on the current-year appraisal and adjusted for estimated costs to sell. A reversal of 

impairment loss of USD $23,168 ($30,827) and a translation adjustment of the USD asset to CAD of $173,070, was 

recorded during the year-ended March 31, 2020 (Note 14). The land is a part of the Company’s cannabis operating segment. 

 

7.    Acquisition of Rthm Technologies, Inc.    

 
On November 2, 2018, the Company completed the acquisition of all of the issued and outstanding shares of Rthm 

Technologies Inc. (“Rthm”), a private company that has developed a suite of proprietary technology comprising advanced 

heart rate tracking and analysis algorithms, and comprehensive circadian rhythm mapping techniques.  Consideration 

consisted of $800,000 in cash, the issuance of 1,742,601 Australis Capital Inc. common shares valued at $1.63 per share 

(based on the market price of the shares at the date of the transaction), and the issuance of an aggregate of $200,000 in 

promissory notes payable upon certain patents being granted to Rthm within eighteen months of close of the transaction. 

The contingent promissory note payable was measured at $61,167 at acquisition, based on management’s assessment of the 

probability and timing of if and when the patents will be granted.   

 

Additionally, under the terms of the agreement, if Rthm is able to meet certain milestones, the Company will issue an 

aggregate value of $1,250,000 in Australis Capital Inc. common shares: 

 
(a) Milestone I means an aggregate of 1,000,000 downloads of Rthm’s Apple and Android digital application at any time 

within 2.5 years of the Closing Date.  The value of Milestone I is $625,000. 

 

(b) Milestone II means the Corporation has earned $5,000,000 in aggregate Gross Revenue at any time within 2.5 years of 

the closing date.  The value of Milestone II is $625,000.   

Consideration $

Cash paid (USD $500,000) 661,400        

Settlement of pre-existing relationship 3,274,471     
Total Consideration Provided 3,935,871     

Net Assets Acquired $

Cash 3,661            

Prepaids 2,637            

Land 4,369,426     

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (439,853)       

Total Consideration Provided 3,935,871     
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The contingent consideration attributed to the milestones was measured on the date of acquisition at fair value of $58,974, 

based on management’s judgment on the probability and timing of when the milestones will be completed.  Milestone I 

was measured at $nil and Milestone II was measured at $58,974.  Total consideration for the acquisition was $3,760,581.  

 

 
 

Measurement 

 

The transaction was determined to be a business combination under IFRS 3. As such, the initial purchase price is allocated 

based on the Company’s estimated fair value of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed on the acquisition 

date. The goodwill value arises from the business synergies and assembled workforce and is not deductible for tax purposes. 

The allocation of the consideration to the fair value of the net assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition 

is as follows: 

 

 
   

As at March 31, 2020, the Company has refocused the core efforts and operations of Rthm to support the Company’s 

Cocoon Technology Platform utilizing the software and synergies, including members of the workforce, from the acquired 

entity. The change in focus results in a probability of achieving the milestones linked to the contingent consideration 

contemplated in the acquisition, of nil. Further, the patents on which payment of the promissory note is contingent, were 

not granted within the contractual period defined. Therefore, the Company reversed the full balance of contingent 

consideration related to the Rthm acquisition, $120,141, during the period ended March 31, 2020, and recorded the 

offsetting gain to the Company’s statement of comprehensive loss. 

 

Goodwill 

 

The Company performs goodwill impairment testing annually and whenever impairment indicators arise. Based on the 

Company’s impairment test performed at fiscal year-end March 31, 2019, it was noted that the carrying value of the Rthm 

CGU exceeded the recoverable amounts and an impairment of goodwill in the amount of $1,055,000 was recognized in the 

period then ended. There was no goodwill impairment recognized for the Rthm CGU as of March 31, 2020. 

 

8. Acquisition of Mr. Natural Productions, Inc.   

 
On February 26, 2019, the Company acquired 100% of Mr. Natural Productions, Inc. (“Mr. Natural”), a multiple award-

winning medical and recreational cannabis brand created in California. Mr. Natural Productions, Inc., prior to this 

transaction, had merged with Mr. Natural, Inc., a California corporation, with Mr. Natural Productions, Inc. being the 

surviving corporation in the merger. The agreement between Mr. Natural Productions, Inc. and the Company was adopted 

as a plan of reorganization and liquidation within the meaning of Sections 368(a)(1)(C) and 368(a)(2)(C) of the United 

States Internal Revenue Code of 1986 and the Regulations thereunder.     

 

Consideration $

Cash paid 800,000        

Common shares issued 2,840,440     

Contingent consideration 120,141        

Total Consideration Provided 3,760,581     

Net Assets Acquired $

Cash 345,668        

Accounts receivable 9,262            

Prepaids 9,151            

Software 1,810,135     

Goodwill 1,644,843     

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (58,478)         

Total Consideration Provided 3,760,581     
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This acquisition includes the rights to the Mr. Natural brand, the life story right of Robert Luciano and all related intellectual 

property, including proprietary processes. Consideration provided, consisted of $658,640 in cash and the issuance of 

533,981 Australis Capital Inc. common shares valued at $1.03 per share which was the fair value of the shares at the date 

of the transaction, as per the agreement. 

 
Additionally, under the terms of the agreement, if Mr. Natural is able to meet the following milestone, the Company will 

issue an aggregate $500,000 in cash and $550,000 in the Company’s common stock: 

 

Milestone: Mr. Natural surpassing USD $3,000,000 in gross revenue attributable to Australis (royalty trigger date). 

 
Australis will pay Mr. Natural certain royalties in relation to the Milestone mentioned above. The royalties shall be paid as 

follows: 

 

(a) USD $7,500 per month beginning 2 months after the closing date until the earlier of (a) the royalty trigger date or (b) 

36 months. 

 

(b) 2.5% of monthly Mr. Natural gross revenue after Australis records USD $3,000,000 in aggregate Mr. Natural revenue. 

 

The contingent consideration was measured on the date of acquisition at fair value of $52,195, based on management’s 

judgment on the probability and timing of when the milestones will be completed. Consideration related to future royalty 

payments was measured on the date of acquisition at a fair value of $387,550 based on management’s estimates of the 

amounts and timing of future revenues from brand sales, and the related payments due to Mr. Natural. The fair value of the 

overall purchase price was determined to be $1,648,385.  

 

Measurement 

 

The transaction was determined to be an asset acquisition under the Amendments to IFRS 3, Business Combinations. The 

purchase price has been allocated entirely to the Mr. Natural brand as substantially all of the fair value of the assets acquired 

is related to Mr. Natural brand. The fair value of the consideration provided at the date of acquisition is as follows: 

 

 
 

As at March 31, 2020, management has committed to the sale of the Mr. Natural Brand, Life Story and related intellectual 

property (“IP”). The Company therefore classifies the assets, and liabilities directly associated with the assets, namely future 

royalties payable, as held for sale as of the same period ended and measures the assets and liabilities at the lower of their 

carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. Prior to classifying as held for sale, the Company evaluates the carrying 

value of the assets and liabilities in accordance with applicable IFRS guidance. The Company evaluated the indefinite life 

intangible asset (comprised of the brand, life story and related IP) for impairment as at March 31, 2020 by comparing the 

carrying value of the asset to its recoverable amount at fair value less costs of disposal based on the expected sales price of 

the disposal group as evidenced through ongoing negotiations for sale, a level 2 input, as of the period then ended. An 

Consideration $

Acquisition of Mr. Natural Productions, Inc.

Common shares issued 550,000         

Contingent consideration 52,195           

Subtotal - Mr. Natural Productions, Inc. 602,195         

Acquisition of Mr. Natural Life Story Rights

Cash 658,640         

Royalty payments 387,550         

Subtotal - Mr. Natural Life Story Rights 1,046,190      

Total Consideration Provided 1,648,385      
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impairment loss of $1,266,385 was recorded during the twelve months ended March 31, 2020, bringing the carrying value 

of the asset held for sale to $382,000. The asset is associated with the Company’s cannabis operating segment.  

 

Additionally, the Company evaluated the contingent obligation arising from original acquisition of the Mr. Natural assets. 

The Company’s commitment to sell the assets results in a probability of nil in achieving the milestones required for payment 

of the contingent consideration and therefore the Company reversed the contingent obligation of $52,195 as of March 31, 

2020 with the offsetting gain recognized to the Company’s consolidated statement of comprehensive loss.      

 

Sale of the disposal group occurred on April 25, 2020 (Note 23).  

 

For the twelve months ended March 31, 2020, the Company paid $119,244 in royalty payments, inclusive of $11,767 of 

imputed interest and foreign currency exchange loss, prior to classifying the assets as held for sale. 

 

9. Asset Acquisition with Green Therapeutics, LLC 

 

(a) Cultivation and Production Assets 

 

On May 21, 2019, the Company entered into an asset purchase agreement with Green Therapeutics, LLC (“GT”) to acquire 

its Tsunami, Provisions, and GT Flowers cannabis brands, certain operating assets, intellectual property and the right to 

assume and complete the construction of a planned cultivation and production facility in North Las Vegas, Nevada. 

 

Consideration provided for the asset acquisition, consisted of 7,831,855 shares of the Company valued at $1.10 per share 

(based on the market price of the shares on May 17, 2019 as defined in the agreement). Additional consideration will be 

provided in accordance with the following milestones: 

 

(i) USD $800,000 ($1,076,800 CAD) in shares will be issued when the new cultivation and production facility in 

North Las Vegas is fully licensed and operational; and  

 

(ii) USD $800,000 ($1,076,800 CAD) in shares will be issued if and when total operating income of $800,000 is 

achieved before the start of the first harvest at the new production facility, after the facility is fully operational.   

 

The Company also issued 109,090 shares as a finder’s fee related to the above acquisition. 

 

Measurement 

 

The Company accounted for the transaction as an asset acquisition. As the consideration provided was in the form of the 

Company’s shares, in accordance with IFRS 2, the value of the equity issued is measured directly at the fair value of the 

assets received. The Company engaged an independent valuation firm to assess the fair value of the assets acquired and 

allocate the consideration provided based on their relative fair values. Valuations are highly dependent on the inputs used 

and assumptions made by management regarding the future performance of the assets acquired. To the extent possible, the 

Company utilized observable inputs, such as market prices for assets comparable to those acquired, however certain inputs 

and assumptions were based upon unobservable inputs, such as future revenue projections, and required significant 

judgment based on the best information available to management. Results of the independent valuation and allocation of 

consideration to assets acquired as outlined below, replace the provisional amount of $10,888,640 previously recorded 

based on fair value of assets acquired by the Company as of the acquisition date. 

 

The contingent consideration was measured on the date of acquisition at fair value of $1,286,776, based on management’s 

judgment on the probability and timing of when the milestones will be completed, considering factors such as the 

Company’s degree of control over achievement of the milestone, activities undertaken at or around time of acquisition to 

progress achievement of the milestone and historical experience and results.  
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Total consideration for the assets acquired was $8,711,008: 

 

 
 

The consideration provided is allocated to the assets acquired as follows: 

 

 
 

As of the period ended March 31, 2020, the Company reassessed the carrying amount of the contingent obligations to ensure 

that it reflects management’s best estimate of the expected outflow required to settle the obligation as of the year then 

ended. The Company recorded an increase to the contingent obligation of $161,717 (inclusive of a foreign currency 

remeasurement adjustment of the USD obligation to CAD of $69,501) based on management’s judgement of the updated 

probabilities and timing of when the milestones will be completed. Additionally, the Company evaluated the indefinite life 

intangible asset (comprised of the cultivation and production licenses) for impairment as at March 31, 2020 by comparing 

the carrying value of the asset to its recoverable amount at fair value less costs of disposal and noted no impairment for the 

period then ended. The Company took into consideration, the potential of the COVID-19 pandemic to impact the results of 

these period-end assessments. The effects of the pandemic are expected to be temporary, however the duration of the effects 

and related financial impact to the global economy, and more specifically the domestic cannabis industry, cannot be 

reasonably estimated at this time. Therefore, considerable judgement was used in the inputs for the period-end assessments 

and changes in these inputs could result in a significant difference in results. 

 

(b) Land 

 

In a separate transaction, the Company acquired from Meridian Companies LLC, an 8.9-acre parcel of land in North Las 

Vegas. This property has the potential to support a 400,000 square foot cultivation and production facility which would be 

built to the industry recognized Aurora Cannabis standard.  Consideration provided, consisted of 3,585,521 shares of the 

Company valued at $1.10 per share (based on the market price of the shares on May 17, 2019 in accordance with the 

agreement).   

 

Measurement 

 

Acquisition of the land is recorded at cost. As the consideration provided was in the form of the Company’s shares, in 

accordance with IFRS 2, the value of the equity issued is measured directly, at the fair value of the assets received. The fair 

value of the land is determined by a third-party appraiser, based on an as-is market value of the parcel, or $3,944,073. 

 

10. License Agreement with Passport Technology Canada Ltd.  

 

On October 29, 2019, the Company entered into a License, Development and Services Agreement with Passport 

Technology Canada Ltd. (“Passport”), to acquire an exclusive license to Passport’s proprietary platform and technology for 

a term of 10 years (the “Passport License”). Passport is a developer of technology-based products and services for highly 

regulated payments, gaming and financial services markets. The Company will utilize the license right to customize the 

technology and develop a cloud-based, self-service fulfillment platform for use in cannabis dispensaries. At the conclusion 

of the contract term, the Company will own the customized technology. As consideration for the license right, the Company 

Consideration $

Common shares issued (inclusive of Finder's Fee) 7,424,232                

Contingent consideration 1,286,776                

Total Consideration Provided 8,711,008                

Net Assets Acquired $

Other Current Assets - Working Capital 673,000                  

Production Equipment 200,370                  

Intangible Asset - Brands 3,799,638               

Intangible Asset - Culivation and Production Licenses 4,038,000               

Total Consideration Provided 8,711,008               
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paid USD $4,175,000 ($5,454,544 CAD) comprised of USD $375,000 ($493,264 CAD), 5,000,000 shares of Body and 

Mind, Inc. (“Body and Mind” or “BaM”) common stock, and 1,829,219 shares of the Company’s common stock.  

 

The fair value of the Body and Mind shares issued is based on a level 1 input of a quoted market price in an active market 

but is discounted for certain restrictions placed on the trading of said shares. The discount applied to the quoted market 

price represents a level 3 input and is managements’ best estimate of the inherent risk associated with the requirement to 

hold the shares for a defined period of time. In accordance with IFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement, an entity shall not make 

an adjustment to a Level 1 input except when a quoted price in an active market does not represent fair value at the 

measurement date. It is the Company’s position that the restrictions placed on the sale or trade of Body and Mind shares 

following the Company’s transfer of the shares to Passport, represent an increased risk to the acquiree when compared to 

the freely trading shares in the active market, and as such, an adjustment to the quoted, market price best reflects the price 

that would be received to sell the asset in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The 

Company assigned a fair value of USD $2,989,165 ($3,902,654 CAD) to the Body and Mind shares issued.  

 

The fair value of the Company’s shares is based on the level 1 fair value input of the observed market price of the Company’s 

shares as of the transaction date, USD $0.44 ($0.58 CAD) per share, or USD $810,835 ($1,058,626 CAD) for all shares 

issued.  

 

Additionally, under the terms of the agreement, the Company will reimburse Passport if as of June 13, 2020 (the “True Up 

Date”), the 30 day volume-weighted average share price of the Body and Mind common shares on the CSE for the 30 

trading days preceding the True Up Date (the “True Up Share Price”) is less than 95% of the undiscounted share price at 

execution of the agreement. The Company will make a one-time payment to Passport (the primary consideration of which 

is additional shares) in the amount up to the difference between the discounted share price at execution of the agreement 

and the True Up Share Price for 3,000,0000 shares of Body and Mind common stock. As of March 31, 2020, the Company 

recorded a provision and corresponding loss on acquisition of the Passport License in the amount of $855,423, based on 

the above outlined true-up obligations of the agreement. 

 

The Company accounted for the license agreement as a finite life, intangible asset, and recorded the asset at cost based on 

the cash paid plus the fair value of the remaining consideration provided. The Company assigned a useful life of 10 years 

to the intangible asset and will amortize the cost straight-line over the 10 year term, beginning in the period in which the 

asset is ready for intended use. As of the period ended March 31, 2020, amortization has not commenced. No impairment 

was recognized on the intangible asset as of March 31, 2020 and the carrying amount of the asset for the same period ended, 

equals the consideration provided under the agreement, or $5,454,544: 

 

 
 

The Company took into consideration, the potential of the COVID-19 pandemic to impact the results of this period-end 

impairment assessment. The effects of the pandemic are expected to be temporary, however the duration of the effects and 

related financial impact to the global economy, and more specifically the domestic cannabis industry, cannot be reasonably 

estimated at this time. Further, as the operations utilizing the software have not commenced, the perceived impact, if any, 

is in the form of a delay in deployment of the software to local dispensaries, rather than an impact to current revenues. 

Considerable judgement was used in the inputs for the period-end assessment and changes in these inputs could result in a 

significant difference in assessment results. 

 

This arrangement falls within the scope of a related party transaction as a member of key management for the Company 

has control over Passport.  

 

Consideration Shares Issued

Price per Share

(CAD)

$

(CAD)

Cash N/A N/A 493,264                  

Body and Mind Common Shares 5,000,000               0.781                      3,902,654               

Australis Common Shares 1,829,219               0.579                      1,058,626               

Total Consideration Provided                 5,454,544 
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On June 25, 2020, the Company entered into an agreement to acquire Passport Technology, Inc., parent company to Passport 

Technology Canada, Ltd (Note 23). 

 

11. Long-Term Deposits 

 

(a) ASTOUND 

 

On November 20, 2019, the Company entered into a three-year contract with ASTOUND GROUP (“ASTOUND”), a global 

marketing and creative firm, to provide brand optimization and awareness services for the Company’s house of brands, 

including TsunamiTM, ProvisionTM, GT FlowersTM and CocoonRewardsTM, as well as for any new, future brands. As 

consideration, the Company issued 5,000,000 shares of Body and Mind, Inc. common stock to ASTOUND, as advanced 

payment for the services to be provided.  

 

The fair value of the Body and Mind shares issued is based on a level 1 input of a quoted market price in an active market 

but is discounted for certain restrictions placed on the trading of said shares. The discount applied to the quoted market 

price represents a level 3 input and is managements’ best estimate of the inherent risk associated with the requirement to 

hold the shares for a defined period of time. In accordance with IFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement, an entity shall not make 

an adjustment to a Level 1 input except when a quoted price in an active market does not represent fair value at the 

measurement date. It is the Company’s position that the restrictions placed on the sale or trade of Body and Mind shares 

following the Company’s transfer of the shares to ASTOUND, represent an increased risk to the acquiree when compared 

to the freely trading shares in the active market, and as such, an adjustment to the quoted, market price best reflects the 

price that would be received to sell the asset in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.  

The Company assigned a fair value of USD $2,725,838 ($3,608,192 CAD) to the Body and Mind shares issued. 

 

The Company accounts for this transaction as a prepayment for future services. As services are rendered over the contract 

term, the Company will reduce the deposit balance in an amount equal to the value of the services provided based on 

ASTOUND’s standard billing rates, until the balance is depleted. If at conclusion of the three-year term, the value of 

services rendered is less than the value of the Body and Mind common shares transferred (or $3,608,192), ASTOUND will 

reimburse the Company for the difference in full. 

 

Additionally, under the terms of the agreement, the Company will reimburse ASTOUND if on the first anniversary of the 

transaction (the “True Up Date”), the 30 day volume-weighted average share price of the Body and Mind common shares 

on the CSE for the 30 trading days preceding the True Up Date (the “True Up Share Price”) is less than discounted share 

price ($0.72 per share) at execution of the agreement. The Company will make a one-time payment to ASTOUND (in cash, 

the Company’s shares or a combination of the two) in the amount up to the difference between the discounted share price 

and the True Up Share Price for each Body and Mind share held by ASTOUND as a result of this transaction, as of the 

True-up Date. 

 

In accordance with IAS 37, Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, this constitutes a possible obligation 

arising from a prior event, the probability of which is based on movement of Body and Mind’s share price and the sales 

activities of ASTOUND with respect to the shares acquired, inputs not within the control of the Company. The Company 

treats this true-up as a contingent obligation and has therefore not recognized an obligation as of the period ended March 

31, 2020. The Company will assess the probability of the obligation at each reporting period to determine if a provisional 

obligation should be recorded. 

 

As of the period ended March 31, 2020, the Company has used $53,265 in services and the ASTOUND deposit balance is 

$3,554,927. 
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(b) Rapid Cash 

 

On December 14, 2019, the Company entered into a vendor agreement with RAPIDCASH ATM Ltd. (“Rapid Cash”), a 

provider of ATM products and software solutions, for the purchase of retail kiosks to be used in conjunction with the 

Company’s Cocoon Technology solution (Note 10). As consideration, the Company issued 5,000,000 shares of Body and 

Mind, Inc. common stock to Rapid Cash, as advanced payment for kiosks to be procured in future periods. 

 

The fair value of the Body and Mind shares issued is based on a level 1 input of a quoted market price in an active market 

but is discounted for certain restrictions placed on the trading of said shares. The discount applied to the quoted market 

price represents a level 3 input and is managements’ best estimate of the inherent risk associated with the requirement to 

hold the shares for a defined period of time (the “Lock-up Period”). In accordance with IFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement, 

an entity shall not make an adjustment to a Level 1 input except when a quoted price in an active market does not represent 

fair value at the measurement date. It is the Company’s position that the restrictions placed on the sale or trade of Body and 

Mind shares following the Company’s transfer of the shares to Rapid Cash, represent an increased risk to the acquiree when 

compared to the freely trading shares in the active market, and as such, an adjustment to the quoted, market price best 

reflects the price that would be received to sell the asset in an orderly transaction between market participants at the 

measurement date.  The Company assigned a fair value of $2,749,178 to the Body and Mind shares issued. 

 

The Company accounts for this transaction as a prepayment for the procurement of retail kiosks in future periods. As the 

kiosks are procured, the Company will reduce the deposit balance in an amount equal to the value of the kiosks received, 

based on Rapid Cash’s standard pricing, until the balance is depleted. During the Lock-up Period, the Company will pay 

for the purchase of kiosks in cash. At completion of the Lock-up Period, the Company will begin depleting the prepaid 

balance.  

 

Additionally, under the terms of the agreement, the Company will reimburse Rapid Cash if eighteen months following 

contract execution (the “True Up Date”), the 30 day volume-weighted average share price of the Body and Mind common 

shares on the CSE for the 30 trading days preceding the True Up Date (the “True Up Share Price”) is less than discounted 

share price (or $0.55 per share) at execution of the agreement. The Company will make a one-time payment to Rapid Cash 

(in cash, the Company’s shares or a combination of the two) in the amount up to the difference between the discounted 

share price and the True Up Share Price for each Body and Mind share held by Rapid Cash as a result of this transaction, 

as of the True-up Date. Further, if the proceeds received by Rapid Cash from the sale of Body and Mind shares during the 

6 month period between the end of the Lock-up Period and 12 months following contract execution, do not exceed the value 

of kiosks sold to the Company during the same period, the Company will make a one-time, cash payment in the amount of 

the difference between the value of kiosks provided during the period and the proceeds from sale of Body and Mind Shares. 

Lastly, if Rapid Cash receives a profit from the sale of Body and Mind shares during the 6 month period following the 

anniversary of execution of the contract and the True Up Date, Rapid Cash will pay to the Company an amount equal to 

half of the profits received during the period. 

 

In accordance with IAS 37, Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, these constitute possible obligations 

and a possible asset arising from prior events, the probability of which is based in part, on movement of Body and Mind’s 

share price and the activities of Rapid Cash with respect to the shares acquired, inputs not within the control of the Company. 

The Company treats these true ups as contingent obligations and a contingent asset and has therefore not recognized the 

obligations or asset as of the period ended March 31, 2020. The Company will assess the probability of the obligations and 

asset at each reporting period to determine if a provisional obligation or asset should be recorded. 

 

As of the period ended March 31, 2020, the Lock-up Period has not expired and therefore the balance of the Rapid Cash 

deposit remains unchanged, $2,749,178. 

 

The remainder of the balance in Long-Term Deposits, $103,746, pertains to the Company’s real estate leases for office 

premises. 
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12. Marketable Securities  

 

(a) Investment in Wagner Dimas Inc.  

 

Effective November 14, 2018, the Company completed the purchase of 2,200,000 common shares representing 22% of the 

outstanding capital of Wager Dimas Inc. from Cannroy Delaware Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of CannaRoyalty Corp. 

As consideration, the Company paid $1,500,000 in cash and issued 738,916 units of the Company, with each unit issued 

on the same terms as the non-brokered private placement completed on October 25, 2018 (Note 16(b)(v)). In line with the 

contribution agreement, the Company returned 700,000 Class A shares back to Wagner Dimas, for nil proceeds. The 

Company recognized a loss on dilution for the year ending March 31, 2019 of $865,204 from the return of shares, which 

resulted in ownership being reduced to 15%. 

 

The units consist of one common share and one-half of a warrant of the Company exercisable at a price of $2.64 for a period 

of two years.  The Company determined the fair value of the common share component of the units to be $1,093,596 and 

the warrant component to be $125,616 on the date of issuance using a variant of the Black-Scholes option pricing model 

which includes a knock-out based on the following assumptions: 

 

Expected term: 2 years 

Interest rate: 2.21% 

Volatility: 80% 

Barrier price: $3.43 

Rebate: $0.79 

Exercise price: $2.64 

Share price: $1.48 

 

Total consideration paid for the investment was $2,719,211. 

 

Measurement 

 

The investment in Wagner Dimas Inc. is accounted for at fair value through profit or loss. The Company, in this case, is 

investing in a private company that is not quoted in an active market. Transactions in such investments do not occur on a 

regular basis and are classified as Level 3. The fair value of the investment as at fiscal year-ended March 31, 2019 was 

$1,854,007, inclusive of the effects of dilution.  

 

On February 26, 2020, the Company entered into a second contribution agreement whereby the Company returned the 

remaining balance of Class A shares back to Wagner Dimas. In connection with, and in exchange for the return of shares, 

the Company executed a Sales Order for the purchase of a Wagner Dimas, Pre-Roll Machine valued at USD $350,000 

($464,835 CAD). The machine is currently being constructed. The exchange resulted in a loss on disposal of marketable 

securities in Wagner Dimas of $1,389,172 recognized in the statement of comprehensive loss for the twelve months ended 

March 31, 2020 and the recognition of a deposit in the amount of $464,835 in the statement of financial position for the 

same period ended, pending receipt of the finished machine. 

 

(b) Investment in Quality Green Inc. 

  
On December 3, 2018, the Company entered into a subscription agreement with Quality Green Inc. (“Quality Green”) to 

purchase units of the latter in connection with Quality Green’s proposed going public transaction.  Quality Green was 

incorporated under the jurisdiction of the Province of Ontario on July 16, 2013 and is domiciled in Canada. Quality Green 

is in the process of creating a business of growing, marketing, selling and distributing cannabis for medical and recreational 

uses.  Pursuant to the terms of the subscription agreement, the Company acquired 3,636,364 units of Quality Green at a 

purchase price of $0.55 per unit for total cash consideration of $2,000,000. Each unit is comprised of one common share 

and one common share purchase warrant of Quality Green exercisable at $1.00 per common share for a period of one year 

from the date of closing.   
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Measurement  

 
The investment in Quality Green is split between the shares and warrants and is accounted for at fair value through profit 

or loss. The Company, in this case, is investing in a private company where relevant observable inputs are not available. 

Transactions in such investments do not occur on a regular basis and are classified as Level 3. The consideration was 

allocated to the shares and warrants based on their relative fair values upon initial recognition. The fair value of the warrants 

at the date of issuance was $218,182, and $1,781,818 is allocated to the shares. This was determined using the Black-

Scholes option pricing model on the following assumption: 

 

Expected term: 1 year 

Interest rate: 1.68% 

Volatility: 82.5% 

Exercise price: $1.00 

Share price: $0.49 

 

At fiscal year-ended March 31, 2019, the fair value of the common shares remained unchanged and the derivative assets 

had a fair value of $145,455. This was determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model on the following 

assumption: 

 

Expected term: 0.68 years 

Interest rate: 1.68% 

Volatility: 82.5% 

Exercise price: $1.00 

Share price: $0.49 

 

The warrants procured under this investment were not exercised and expired on December 10, 2019. The Company 

therefore reversed the derivative asset as of December 31, 2019, resulting in the recognition of a loss in the amount of 

$145,455 during the period then ended. As relevant, observable inputs for Company’s investment in the common shares of 

Quality Green are not available, the transaction continues to be classified as Level 3. The Company utilized available entity 

specific and market data to reassess the fair value of the Company’s investment in the common shares of Quality Green as 

of March 31, 2020. Declines in the stock market for Canadian cannabis companies, as well as the delay in Quality Green’s 

proposed going public transaction resulted in a loss on investment of $1,281,140 and an overall investment fair value of 

$500,678 as of March 31, 2020. 

 
(c) Investment in Folium Equity Holding, LLC  

 

On January 14, 2019, the Company entered into a subscription agreement with Folium Equity Holding, LLC (“Folium”), 

the largest vertically integrated producer, manufacturer, and distributor of hemp derived phytocannabinoids in the United 

States. Folium is in the process of constructing one of the largest phytocannabinoid extraction and purification facilities in 

the United States, with plans for a new pharmaceutical division and the completion of their Canadian facility. The Company 

acquired the amount of $3,988,200 (USD $3,000,000) in Class A non-restricted membership interest at a price of USD $1 

per unit of membership interest.  The cash represents the total consideration paid.  

 

On December 10, 2019, the Company entered into an agreement and plan of merger by and among the Company and 

Folium, pursuant to which, the Company will acquire all of the outstanding Folium membership units not already owned 

by the Company (the “Proposed Transaction”). The Company subsequently elected to walk away from the Proposed 

Transaction but continues to maintain the previously acquired ownership interest. One-time expenses for consulting, legal 

and other fees related to the Proposed Transaction amounted to $1,363,261 for the twelve months ended March 31, 2020. 
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Measurement 

 

The investment in Folium Biosciences is accounted for at fair value through profit or loss. The Company is investing in a 

private company where relevant observable inputs are not available. Transactions in such investments do not occur on a 

regular basis and are classified as Level 3.  The fair value of the investment as at fiscal year-ended March 31, 2019 was 

$3,980,811.  

 

Additional information was made available to the Company in connection with the Proposed Transaction and as a result of 

this information, as well as declining market conditions in the CBD space, namely decreases in the retail price of CBD and 

the uncertainty surrounding the Food and Drug Administrations’ (“FDA”) involvement in the CBD space, the Company 

reassessed the fair value of the investment balance recorded. The Company recognized a loss on investment of $3,184,648 

during the year ended March 31, 2020 resulting in an investment fair value of $796,163 for the period then ended.   

 

13. Investment in Associates – Body and Mind, Inc. 

 

On November 2, 2018, the Company completed an investment in Body and Mind Inc. (“BaM”) pursuant to an investment 

agreement dated October 30, 2018, and acquired a 25% ownership interest in BaM as follows: 

 
(a) 16,000,000 units of BaM at a price of $0.40 per unit for gross proceeds of $6,400,000. Each unit consisted of one 

common share and one share purchase warrant exercisable at a price of $0.50 per share for a period of two years, 

subject to acceleration if the closing price of the common shares of BaM is equal to or greater than $1.20 for 30 

consecutive trading days; and  

 

(b) $1,600,000 principal amount of 8% unsecured convertible debentures of BaM convertible at $0.55 per share until 

November 2, 2020, subject to acceleration if the closing price of the common shares of BaM is equal to or greater than 

$1.65 for 20 consecutive trading days. 

 

In addition, under the terms of the investment agreement: 

 

(a) the parties will negotiate in good faith a license agreement whereby BaM will grant the Company an exclusive and 

assignable license to use the BaM brand outside the U.S. on commercially reasonable terms; 

 

(b) BaM entered into a commercial advisory agreement with the Company pursuant to which BaM will pay the Company 

USD $10,000 per month for advisory and consulting services for a term ending on the earlier of five years from the 

closing date, and the date the Company ceases to hold 10% of the issued and outstanding shares of BaM; and 

 

(c) for as long as the Company owns 10% of the issued and outstanding shares of BaM, the Company will be entitled to 

nominate one director to the board of BaM and one more director if the Company exercises all of the warrants and 

converts all of its debentures in BaM. The Company will be entitled to maintain two directors on the board of BaM if 

it maintains at least a 25% ownership interest in BaM. On November 2, 2018, the Company nominated one director to 

the board of BaM. 

 

Measurement 

 

In accordance with IFRS 28, Investment in Associates and Joint Ventures, if an entity holds, directly or indirectly, 20% or 

more of the voting power of the investee, it is presumed that the entity has significant influence, unless it can be clearly 

demonstrated that this is not the case. The Company has concluded that the November 2, 2018 acquisition of the 25% 

ownership in BaM constitutes significant influence over the investee and as such, accounts for the purchase of voting-right 

share instruments under the equity method of accounting. Transactions involving the acquisition of derivative instruments, 

or other instruments that do not hold current voting rights, are accounted for under the appropriate IFRS guidance. 
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Initial recognition of the purchase of 16,000,000 units for $6,400,000 was bifurcated between the investment in shares and 

warrants, based on their relative fair values, with the common shares to be recorded at cost in accordance with the equity 

method of accounting, and the derivative instrument recorded at fair value through profit and loss. A deferred gain of 

$2,202,353 was recorded at time of acquisition as a result of the difference in consideration paid for the derivative 

instrument and the fair value at acquisition. A summary of the bifurcation and subsequent fair value adjustments related to 

this investment are outlined in the Warrant Continuity and Investment in Associates - BaM tables at the end of this footnote. 

 

The Company measured the convertible debentures as a hybrid instrument at fair value through profit or loss. The fair value 

at acquisition was $2,088,256.  Key inputs included a discount rate of 18.5% which is the estimate of the observable market 

rate for similar convertible debentures combined with the volatility based on comparable companies operating in the 

cannabis industry. Additionally, the following inputs were considered with respect to the conversion feature: 

 

Expected term: 2 years 

Interest rate: 2.268% 

Volatility: 80% 

Exercise price: $0.55 

Share price: $0.59 

 

The difference between consideration paid and fair value of $488,256 was recorded as a deferred gain, to be recognized in 

subsequent periods as a gain only to the extent that it arises from a change in a factor (including time) that market 

participants would take into account when pricing such asset. 

 

The fair value of the hybrid instrument at fiscal year-ended March 31, 2019 was $2,928,638, resulting in the recognition of 

an additional unrealized gain of $840,382 for the same period ended, and was determined using the Black-Scholes option 

pricing model with the following assumptions: 

  

Expected term: 1.58 years 

Interest rate: 1.608% 

Volatility: 80% 

Exercise price: $0.55 

Share price: $0.95 

 

Pursuant to a conversion agreement executed July 1, 2019, the Company agreed to convert all of its unsecured convertible 

debentures of Body and Mind Inc. in the principal amount of $1,600,000 at a price of $0.55 per common share on or before 

July 1, 2020, to acquire 2,909,091 common shares of Body and Mind Inc. In consideration for its agreement to convert the 

Debentures, Body and Mind Inc. paid to Australis $148,340 as an advanced payment of interest on the debentures for the 

period beginning November 2, 2018 and ending July 1, 2020. Payment was received during the period ended June 30, 2019.  

 

As at March 31, 2020, the instrument is carried at a fair value of $1,553,055 based on the above assumptions, modified to 

reflect the current valuations of BaM share price and the remaining term of the convertible debenture as of the period then 

ended. An unrealized loss on investment of $1,375,583 was recorded for the twelve months ended March 31, 2020. Further, 

the Company reversed the remaining balance of deferred gain related to the instrument, recognizing $388,598 for the twelve 

months ended March 31, 2020.  

 

 
 

$

Opening Balance, March 31, 2018 -                          

Initial Investment - Cost 1,600,000               

Deferred Gain on Acquisition 488,256                  

Fair Value at Acquisition Date, November 2, 2018 2,088,256               

Gain (loss) 840,382                  

Fair Value at March 31, 2019 2,928,638               

Gain (loss) (1,375,583)              

Balance at March 31, 2020 1,553,055               

Convertible Debentures
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On November 28, 2018, the Company executed a loan agreement with BaM. Terms of the agreement included the following: 

  

(a) the Company advanced the principal amount of $5,340,000 (USD $4,000,000) at a rate of 15% per annum accruing 

and payable at the end of each six month period following the date of the agreement in arrears either in cash or in kind 

(the “Note”).  BaM will maintain prepayment rights at any time, in any amount, unless it is within the first year in 

which case BaM will be required to pay a 5% prepayment penalty on the amount repaid; 

 

(b) BaM paid a finance fee to the Company in the amount of 1,105,083 shares at a deemed price of $0.72 per share; and 

 

(c) BaM increased its monthly advisory and consulting services fee payable to the Company by USD $6,500 effective 

December 1, 2018.  

 

On November 30, 2018, the Company exercised 3,206,160 warrants pursuant to the investment agreement dated October 

30, 2018, to acquire the same in shares. The Company paid $1,603,080 (USD $1,200,000) to BaM upon exercise and 

recognized $424,391 of the deferred gain balance, representing the proportion of deferred gain related to the number of 

warrants exercised. Net proceeds from the loan as well as the warrant exercise were used by BaM to fund its investment in 

Green Light District Holdings, the owner of the ShowGrow dispensary brand.  

 

Measurement 

 

Recognition of the loan receivable was bifurcated between the loan and the shares received as a finance fee for issuance of 

the loan, based on their relative fair values with the shares to be recorded at cost in accordance with the equity method of 

accounting, and the loan receivable recorded at fair value through profit or loss. The fair value of the loan receivable at 

March 31, 2019 was $5,330,754. This was determined by calculating the present value of the loan using a fair market 

interest rate of 18.5%. A deferred gain of $588,739 was recorded at issuance of the loan to reflect the difference between 

the transaction price paid and the fair value. A subsequent fair value adjustment in the amount of $287,872 was recorded 

to the Company’s statement of comprehensive loss as of fiscal year-ended March 31, 2019, to reflect the updated present 

value as adjusted for the remaining term of the loan. The deferred gain was amortized to $489,540 as of the same period 

end. The 1,105,083 shares from BaM were measured at $885,857.  

 

On February 1, 2019, Body and Mind announced a retail acquisition in Ohio by entering into a definitive agreement. 

Australis and BaM entered into a concurrent investment agreement pursuant to which the Company purchased 1,768,545 

common shares of BaM at a price of $0.585 per share for an aggregate purchase price of $1,034,599. Pursuant to its 

investment agreement dated October 30, 2018 with the Company, BaM granted Australis anti-dilution participation rights 

which included certain discount rates.  

 

On May 22, 2019, the Company and Body and Mind amended the terms of the investment agreement, reducing monthly 

consulting fees payable by Body and Mind to the Company, to USD $12,000 beginning June 1, 2019. 

 

On May 29, 2019, the Company acquired, through the exercise of its remaining 12,793,840 warrants of Body and Mind 

Inc., ownership of 12,793,840 common shares in the capital of Body and Mind Inc. The common shares were acquired 

pursuant to the exercise of warrants in accordance with the terms of the investment agreement dated October 30, 2018. The 

Company paid $6,396,920 to exercise the Warrants at a price of $0.50 per share. This transaction resulted in the recognition 

of the remaining deferred gain, as adjusted for prior period amortization, in the amount of $1,404,003 during the three 

months ending June 30, 2019. 
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The warrant proceeds were used, in part, to fully repay the outstanding senior secured note (the “Note”) in the amount of 

USD $4,495,890 owing to the Company. Payment of the Note included the principal amount of USD $4,000,000 

($5,340,000 CAD), accrued interest on the Note through repayment date and an early repayment fee. This transaction led 

to a gain on settlement of the loan in the amount of $81,428, due in large part to a foreign exchange gain of $72,181; in 

addition, the remaining deferred gain on the loan receivable, in the amount of $489,540, was recognized during the three 

months ending June 30, 2019.  Interest in the amount of $397,208 and Other Income related to the prepayment penalty in 

the amount of $267,000 was also recognized during the three months ending June 30, 2019.  

 

On October 29, 2019, the Company transferred to Passport Technology Canada, Ltd. 5,000,000 shares of Body and Mind 

common stock (Note 10), representing a 14.3% reduction in ownership held by the Company from 34,873,628 shares to 

29,873,628 shares held. As a result of the transfer, the Company recorded a reduction to investment in associates in 

proportion to the reduction in ownership interest of the investee, or $2,934,287 based on the carrying value of the investment 

at time of transfer. The Company recorded a gain on disposition of $968,366 in the period ended December 31, 2019, 

representing the difference between the carrying value of the transferred interest and the consideration received in exchange 

for the transferred interest. 

 

On November 20, 2019, the Company transferred to ASTOUND GROUP, 5,000,000 shares of Body and Mind common 

stock (Note 11(a)), representing a 16.7% reduction in ownership held by the Company from 29,873,628 shares to 

24,873,628 shares held. As a result of the transfer, the Company recorded a reduction to investment in associates in 

proportion to the reduction in ownership interest of the investee, or $2,920,498 based on the carrying value of the investment 

at time of transfer. The Company recorded a gain on disposition of $687,694 in the period ended December 31, 2019, 

representing the difference between the carrying value of the transferred interest and the consideration received in exchange 

for the transferred interest. 

 

On December 14, 2019, the Company transferred to RAPIDCASH ATM Ltd, 5,000,000 shares of Body and Mind common 

stock (Note 11(b)), representing a 20.1% reduction in ownership held by the Company from 24,873,628 shares to 

19,873,628 shares held. As a result of the transfer, the Company recorded a reduction to investment in associates in 

proportion to the reduction in ownership interest of the investee, or $2,904,091 based on the carrying value of the investment 

at time of transfer. The Company recorded a loss on disposition of $154,913 in the period ended December 31, 2019, 

representing the difference between the carrying value of the transferred interest and the consideration received in exchange 

for the transferred interest 

 

On February 18, 2020, the Company transferred to a brokerage account, 1,018,532 shares of Body and Mind common stock 

for immediate sale. The Company therefore classifies the portion of shares transferred to the brokerage account as held for 

sale as of the date of transfer and measures the shares at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell, 

or $423,353. The Company recognized an impairment loss on investment in associate held for sale of $154,202 upon 

transfer. The Company sold 877,500 of the shares as of March 31, 2020 for proceeds of $272,294 and recognized a loss on 

sale of investment in associate of $92,439. The remaining shares classified as held for sale were revalued as of March 31, 

2020 to the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell, and an additional impairment loss on investment 

in associate held for sale of $20,224 was recognized as of the same period ended. The shares held for sale are a part of the 

Company’s cannabis operating segment. 

Warrant Continuity $ FV/ warrant # Warrants $ Warrants

Opening Balance, March 31, 2018 -                         -                         -                         

Additions October 31, 2018 0.12                        16,000,000             1,957,647               

Deferred Gain on Acquisition 2,202,353               

Fair value at acquisition date 0.26                        16,000,000             4,160,000               

FVTPL Gain (loss) 4,640,000               

Fair value at November 30, 2018 0.55                        16,000,000             8,800,000               

Exercised Warrants (3,206,160)             (1,763,388)             

Gain (loss) -                         (511,754)                

Fair value at March 31, 2019 0.51                        12,793,840             6,524,858               

Exercised Warrants -                         (12,793,840)           (6,524,858)             

Balance at March 31, 2020 -                         
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As of March 31, 2020, the Company holds 18,855,096 Common Shares in BaM, excluding shares classified as held for 

sale, and Debentures in the principal amount of $1,600,000. The Company’s ownership percentage in BaM’s issued and 

outstanding common stock is 18.5%. As the Company holds one seat on the Board of Directors of BaM and holds potential 

voting rights through the convertible debenture representing an additional 2.9% ownership interest in BaM, the Company 

continues to account for its voting right interest in BaM using the equity method of accounting.  

 

Body and Mind incorporated in the State of Delaware, United Stated and is publicly listed in Canada. The reporting periods 

of Body and Mind, Inc. differ from that of the Company and the Company uses available public financial information to 

account for the value of the invested entity. The Company therefore utilized the most recently published financial statements 

of Body and Mind, the period-ended January 31, 2020, to determine the proportional loss to be recorded in the Company’s 

financials for the current period. The Company reviewed the significant activity of Body and Mind as communicated 

through press releases during the period of February 1, 2020 through March 31, 2020 and noted no significant events or 

changes in the activities of the entity that would materially affect the proportional loss recorded during the current quarter. 

Further, management made certain assumptions based on available information, to convert BaM’s consolidated statement 

of operations from US GAAP to IFRS. The Company estimated an increase to net loss in the amount of $353,000 for the 

three months ended January 31, 2020 based on the conversion from US GAAP to IFRS, specifically related to adjustments 

for Biological Asset Transformation in accordance with IAS 41, Agriculture, and the provision for income taxes. 

 

During the year ended March 31, 2020, the Company recognized a proportional loss on investment of $2,414,953 and a 

proportional other comprehensive gain of $51,975. The carrying value of the investment at March 31, 2020 is $10,500,148. 

Based on Body and Mind’s closing stock price of $0.275 as of March 31, 2020, the 18,855,096 common shares owned by 

the Company as of that same date, had a fair value of $5,185,151. The Company considered the potential for impairment 

based on the difference in carrying value of the investment in associate and fair value of the total shares held as quoted in 

the market. In accordance with paragraph 41B of IAS 28, a decline in the fair value of the associate is not itself evidence 

of impairment and must be considered with other available information. Based on the Company’s assessment of the 

investment, including factors such as the investee’s recent activities as disclosed in their public press releases, current 

fluctuations in the domestic stock market, and the economic uncertainty surrounding the duration and impact of the novel 

coronavirus, “COVID-19”, management believes it is too soon to tell if the decline in fair value is more than temporary and 

signifying impairment.    
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The Company’s investment in Body and Mind can be summarized below: 

 

 
 

The following is a summary of financial information for the Company’s investment in Body and Mind based on the latest 

publicly available information, or January 31, 2020. The figures are presented in accordance with US GAAP as the investee 

does not prepare IFRS financial statements and it is impracticable for them to do so. BaM reports in U.S. Dollars and 

therefore, the below amounts are translated to Canadian Dollars based on the foreign exchange rate as at January 31, 2020 

for summary information from their consolidated balance sheets and based on the 12 month average exchange rate as of 

that date, for summary information from their consolidated statement of operations.  

 

 

Investment in Associates - BaM $ # of Shares

Opening Balance, March 31, 2018

Additions:

Initial Investment 10/30/2018 4,442,352 16,000,000             

Shares from Loan Receivable 11/28/2018 885,857 1,105,083               

Warrant Exercise 11/30/2018 3,366,468 3,206,160               

Share Purchase 2/1/2019 1,034,599 1,768,545               

Proportional Loss Recognized - FY2019

Proportional Loss Recognized - FY2019 
(1)

(505,820)

Balance at March 31, 2019 9,223,456 22,079,788

Additions:

Warrant Exercise 5/29/2019 12,921,778 12,793,840             

Deletions:

Share Issuance - Passport License Agreement 10/29/2019 (2,934,287) (5,000,000)             

Share Issuance - ASTOUND Service Agreement 11/20/2019 (2,920,498) (5,000,000)             

Share Issuance - Rapid Cash Kiosk Agreement 12/14/2019 (2,904,091) (5,000,000)             

Shares Held for Sale 2/18/2020 (577,555) (1,018,532)             

Proportional OCI Gain Recognized for Shares 

Issued/Sold 54,323

Proportional Loss Recognized - FY2020

Proportional Loss Recognized - FY2020 (2,414,953)

51,975

Balance at March 31, 2020 10,500,148 18,855,096             

Proportional OCI Recognized - FY2020 (net of disposals) 
(2)

(1) 
Body and Mind OCI for the period following the Company's initial acquisition of common shares, 11/2/2018, through 6/30/2019, was immaterial and 

therefore not reflected in the Company's investment in associate, foreign currency translation nor AOCI balances (USD $7,106)

(2) 
Proportional OCI Recognized - FY2020 is net of proportional gains/losses previously recognized in other comprehensive income relating to the Company's 

reduction in ownership interest, that have been reclassified to the Company's Comprehensive Statements of Loss as of March 31, 2020.

USD CAD

Cash and cash equivalents 3,374,079               4,464,919

Current assets 6,923,402 9,161,738

Non-current assets 31,892,223 42,202,979

Current liabilities 1,479,827 1,958,255

Non-current liabilities 2,621,835 3,469,474

As at January 31, 2020
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14.  Property, Plant and Equipment  

 

Property, Plant and Equipment held for use and related accumulated depreciation are as follows: 

 

 
 

 

USD CAD

Revenue 3,013,910               3,993,431               

Depreciation and amortization (157,855)                (209,158)                

Interest income 556,688                  737,612                  

Interest expense (131,850)                (174,701)                

Net income (loss) from continued operations (2,132,149)             (2,825,097)             

Other comprehensive income (loss) 15,753                    20,873                    

Total comprehensive income (loss) (2,116,396)             (2,804,225)             

Six Months Ended January 31, 2020

 March 31, 2019  Additions  Disposals 
 Impairment 

(Loss)/Reversal 

 Foreign Currency  

Translation 
 March 31, 2020 

 Cost 

 Land                          -               3,944,073                          -                            -                            -               3,944,073 

 Computer Equipment                  24,977                  42,457                  (4,658)                          -                      3,537                  66,313 

 Furniture & Fixtures                  84,013                  18,401                          -                            -                      6,824                109,238 

 Leasehold Improvements                  21,650                  10,995                  (2,396)                          -                      1,279                  31,528 

 Production Equipment                          -                  200,370                          -                            -                            -                  200,370 

 Construction in Progress                          -                  649,862                          -                            -                    36,416                686,278 

               130,640             4,866,158                  (7,054)                          -                    48,056             5,037,800 

 Accumulated depreciation 

 Computer Equipment                    3,616                  15,424                  (1,716)                          -                         736                  18,060 

 Furniture & Fixtures                    5,542                  18,616                          -                            -                      1,578                  25,736 

 Leasehold Improvements                    1,003                    4,442                     (431)                          -                         326                    5,340 

 Production Equipment                          -                    57,641                          -                            -                            -                    57,641 

                 10,161                  96,123                  (2,147)                          -                      2,640                106,777 

 Net book value 

 Land                          -               3,944,073 

 Computer Equipment                  21,361                  48,253 

 Furniture & Fixtures                  78,471                  83,502 

 Leasehold Improvements                  20,647                  26,188 

 Production Equipment                          -                  142,729 

 Construction in Progress                          -                  686,278 

               120,479             4,931,023 

March 31, 2018 Additions Disposals
Impairment 

(Loss)/Reversal

Foreign Currency  

Translation
March 31, 2019

Cost

Computer Equipment                          -                    25,171                          -                            -                       (194)                  24,977 

Furniture & Fixtures                          -                    85,474                          -                            -                    (1,461)                  84,013 

Leasehold Improvements                          -                    21,771                          -                            -                       (121)                  21,650 

                         -                  132,416                          -                            -                    (1,776)                130,640 

Accumulated depreciation

Computer/Equipment                          -                      3,585                          -                            -                           31                    3,616 

Furniture & Fixtures                          -                      5,455                          -                            -                           87                    5,542 

Leasehold Improvements                          -                         985                          -                            -                           18                    1,003 

                         -                    10,025                          -                            -                         136                  10,161 

Net book value

Computer Equipment                          -                    21,361 

Furniture & Fixtures                          -                    78,471 

Leasehold Improvements                          -                    20,647 

                         -                  120,479 
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Property, Plant and Equipment held for sale are as follows (Note 6): 

 

 
 

 
 

15. Goodwill and Intangible Assets 

 

Identifiable intangible assets, and the related reconciliation of beginning and ending balances, are as follows: 

  

 

  

 
 

During the year ended March 31, 2020, the Company acquired the indefinite life intangible asset of cannabis production 

and cultivation licenses (Note 9). An intangible asset shall be regarded as having an indefinite useful life when based on an 

analysis of all of the relevant factors, there is no foreseeable limit to the period over which the asset is expected to generate 

net cash inflows for the Company. Given that the licenses and permits are connected to the operations of the Company, and 

not tied to a specific asset nor brand, there is no foreseeable limit to the period over which the asset is expected to generate 

future cash inflows for the Company. 

 

Also during the year ended March 31, 2020, the Company reclassified to intangible assets held for sale, its Intangible Asset 

of the Mr. Natural brand and life story and adjusted the asset value to the lesser of its carrying amount and fair value less 

costs to sell, resulting in an impairment loss of $1,266,385 during the twelve months then ended (Note 8). 

 

March 31, 2019 Additions Disposals
Impairment 

(Loss)/Reversal

Foreign Currency  

Translation
March 31, 2020

Cost

Land held for sale             2,773,635                          -                            -                    30,827                173,070             2,977,532 

            2,773,635                          -                            -                    30,827                173,070             2,977,532 

March 31, 2018 Additions Disposals
Impairment 

(Loss)/Reversal

Foreign Currency  

Translation
March 31, 2019

Cost

Land held for sale                          -               4,369,426                          -             (1,632,322)                  36,531             2,773,635 

                         -               4,369,426                          -             (1,632,322)                  36,531             2,773,635 

Intangible Note March 31, 2019

Additions: 

Acquired in 

Business 

Combination

Additions:

Separately

Acquired Amortization Impairment

Transferred to 

Held for Sale March 31, 2020

Definite Life Intangible Assets:

Software 
(1)

7 1,810,135            -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       1,810,135            

Brands 9 -                       -                       3,799,638            (326,851)              -                       -                       3,472,787            

License - IP 
(1)

10 -                       -                       5,454,544            -                       -                       -                       5,454,544            

Indefinite Life Intangible Assets:

Brands 8 1,648,031            -                       354                      -                       (1,266,385)           (382,000)              -                       

Licenses and Permits 9 -                       -                       4,038,000            -                       -                       -                       4,038,000            

3,458,166            -                       13,292,536          (326,851)              (1,266,385)           (382,000)              14,775,466          

Intangible Assets Held for Sale:

Brands 8 -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       382,000               382,000               

-                       -                       -                       -                       -                       382,000               382,000               

(1) 
Amortization expected to commence in second quarter, FY 2021

Total Intangible Assets Held for Sale

Total Intangible Assets Held for Use, net

Intangible Note March 31, 2018

Additions: 

Acquired in 

Business 

Combination

Additions:

Separately

Acquired Amortization Impairment

Transferred to 

Held for Sale March 31, 2019

Definite Life Intangible Assets:

Software 7 -                       1,810,135            -                       -                       -                       -                       1,810,135            

Indefinite Life Intangible Assets:

Brands 8 -                       -                       1,648,031            -                       -                       -                       1,648,031            

-                       1,810,135            1,648,031            -                       -                       -                       3,458,166            Total Intangible Assets, net
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The following is a continuity schedule of the Company’s goodwill, comprised solely of the goodwill arising in the 

Company’s acquisition of Rthm, and belonging to the Company’s technology operating segment (Note 7): 

 

 
 

 
 

16. Share Capital  

 

(a) Authorized  

 

 Unlimited number of common voting shares without par value; and 

 Unlimited number of preferred non-voting shares without par value.  

 

(b) Issued and outstanding 

 

As of March 31, 2020, there were 169,943,997 issued and outstanding common shares. As of March 31, 2019, there 

were 145,062,954 issued and outstanding common shares.  

 

(i) On June 13, 2018, the Company issued and repurchased the following securities of the Company in connection 

with the Spin-out Transaction (Note 4): 

 

o 8,235,294 units of the Company with a fair value of $2,049,114 to settle a promissory note of $1,400,000 in 

connection with the acquisition of the SubTerra Assets (Notes 4 and 5).  Each unit consisted of one common 

share and one share purchase warrant of the Company exercisable at $0.25 per share until September 19, 2019. 

 

o 18,567,070 units of the Company with a fair value of $4,619,877 to settle loans of $3,156,402 (Note 4).  Each 

unit consisted of one common share and one share purchase warrant exercisable at $0.25 per share until 

September 19, 2019. 

 

o The Company repurchased 100 of its opening issued and outstanding common shares.   

 
(ii) On June 14, 2018, the Company entered into a Funding Agreement with ACB pursuant to which ACB advanced 

$500,000 to the Company in consideration for which the Company provided ACB with the following share 

purchase warrants (the “Restricted Back-in Right”) (Note 4): 

 
o A warrant to purchase 20% of the issued and outstanding shares of the Company as of the date on which its 

shares commenced trading on the CSE, exercisable at a price of $0.20 per share for a period of ten years from 

the date of issuance (22,628,751 warrants were issued on September 19, 2018). 

 

(iii) On July 5, 2018 and August 3, 2018, the Company completed a two-tranche private placement of 73,936,000 

and 11,064,000 shares at a price of $0.20 per share, respectively, for aggregate gross proceeds  

of $17,000,000.  Total share issuance costs amounted to $20,764 which consisted of legal fees. 

 

(iv) On September 17, 2018, the Company issued an aggregate of 1,341,391 units in consideration of $333,766 in 

transaction costs paid by ACB. The breakdown of this $333,766 was $268,278 in common shares and $65,488 

Goodwill Note March 31, 2019 Additions Impairment March 31, 2020

2019 Acquisitions

Acquisition of RTHM 7 589,843                -                      -                      589,843              

589,843                -                      -                      589,843              Total Goodwill

Goodwill Note March 31, 2018 Additions Impairment March 31, 2019

2019 Acquisitions

Acquisition of RTHM 7 -                        1,644,843           (1,055,000)          589,843              

-                        1,644,843           (1,055,000)          589,843              Total Goodwill
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in warrants. The common shares were issued at $0.20; the warrants are each exercisable at $0.25 (Note 4).  

 
(v) On October 25, 2018 and November 27, 2018, the Company completed a non-brokered private placement of 

14,778,255 units and 1,084,451 units, respectively, at a price of $2.03 per unit for aggregate gross proceeds of 

$32,201,293 (net of an aggregate foreign exchange difference of $9,964). Each unit consisted of one common 

share and one-half of a share purchase warrant (“fractional warrant”). Each whole warrant is exercisable at $2.64 

per share for a period of two years from the date of closing of the private placement. The Company may 

accelerate the expiry of the warrants in the event that the daily volume weighted average trading price of the 

Company’s common shares is greater than $3.43 for any ten consecutive trading days. $25,349,282 was 

allocated to shares and $6,852,011 to reserves. In connection with the private placement, the Company paid 

aggregate finders’ fees of $561,863 ($119,559 in warrant reserves and the balance of $442,304 in share 

transaction costs). 

 
(vi) On November 2, 2018, the Company completed the acquisition of all of the issued and outstanding shares of 

Rthm. Pursuant to the terms of the acquisition, the Company paid cash of $800,000 and issued 1,742,601 

common shares of the Company with a fair value of $2,840,440. (Note 7). 

 

(vii) On November 14, 2018, the Company completed the purchase of common shares representing 15% of the 

outstanding capital of Wagner Dimas Inc. from Cannroy Delaware Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of 

CannaRoyalty Corp.  As consideration, the Company paid cash of $1,500,000 and issued 738,916 units of the  

Company with a fair value of $1,219,212 and with each unit issued on the same “fractional warrant” terms as 

the non-brokered private placement completed on October 25, 2018 (Note 12(a)). 

 

(viii) On February 26, 2019, the Company acquired 100% of Mr. Natural Productions, Inc., a multiple award-winning 

medical and recreational cannabis brand based in California. The Company paid cash of $658,640 and issued 

533,981 shares at a price of $1.03 per share for a total fair value of $550,000 (Note 8). 

 

(ix) On April 17, 2019, the Company adopted amendments to the Company's stock option plan and restricted share 

unit plan.  Under the amended plans, the Company may grant stock options and restricted share units (“RSUs”) 

that, in the aggregate, do not exceed a maximum of 15% of the issued and outstanding common shares of the 

Company.  The Company has issued approximately 14.3% of its currently issued and outstanding common 

shares in options and RSUs. 

 

(x) On May 21, 2019, the Company entered into an asset purchase agreement with Green Therapeutics, LLC to 

acquire its Tsunami, Provisions, and GT Flowers cannabis brands, certain operating assets, intellectual property 

and the right to assume, and complete the construction of a cultivation and production facility in North Las 

Vegas, Nevada. The Company issued 7,831,855 shares at a price of $1.10 per share for a total of $8,615,041 

(USD $6,400,000), with a fair value of $7,322,241 as described in Note 9, upon the signing of a definitive 

agreement.  Upon achievement of certain milestones, the Company will issue an additional $2,153,600 (USD 

$1,600,000) in the Company’s common stock. A finder’s fee of 109,090 shares of the Company, at a price of 

$1.10 per share for a total of $119,999 and with a fair value of $101,991, was issued in conjunction with this 

transaction (Note 9). 

 

(xi) On May 21, 2019, the Company acquired from Meridian Companies LLC an 8.9-acre parcel of land in North 

Las Vegas.  The Company issued 3,585,521 shares at a price of $1.10 per share for a total of $3,944,073 (USD 

$2,930,000) of its common stock (Note 9).   

 
(xii) On October 29, 2019, the Company entered into a ten-year License, Development and Services Agreement with 

Passport Technology Canada Ltd to acquire an exclusive license to Passport’s proprietary platform and 

technology for use in cannabis dispensaries. As consideration, the Company issued 1,829,219 shares at a price 

of $0.58 per share for a total of $1,058,626 of its common stock (Note 10).  
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(xiii) The Company issued an aggregate of 9,999,838 common shares on the exercise of 9,999,838 warrants for gross 

proceeds of $2,499,960 for the year ended March 31, 2020 (13,040,995 common shares issued on the exercise 

of 13,040,995 warrants for gross proceeds of $3,260,249 for the year ended March 31, 2019). 

 

(xiv) The Company issued an aggregate of 759,353 common shares on the exercise of 933,000 stock options, net of 

shares withheld for tax, for gross proceeds of $186,600 for the year ended March 31, 2020 (nil for the year ended 

March 31, 2019). 

 

(xv) The Company issued an aggregate of 766,167 common shares, net of shares withheld for tax, upon vesting of 

874,167 RSUs for the year ended March 31, 2020 (nil for the year ended March 31, 2019). 

  

(c) Share purchase warrants 

 

Except as noted above, each warrant entitles the holder to purchase one common share of the Company. A summary 

of the status of the warrants outstanding follows: 

 

 
 

The following table summarizes the warrants that remain outstanding as at March 31, 2020: 

 

 
 

(d) Stock options 

 

On June 15, 2018, the Board adopted a Share Option Plan which provides that the Board may from time to time, in its 

discretion, and in accordance with exchange requirements, grant to directors, officers, employees, and consultants, non-

transferable stock options to purchase common shares of the Company. Each option granted under the Share Option 

Plan carries a five-year life and vests over a term of three years such that one-third vests in year one, one-third vests in 

year two and the final third vests in year three, unless otherwise designated below. 

 

The fair value of each stock option grant is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. 

The following weighted average inputs were used in determining the fair value of options granted during the twelve-

months ended March 31, 2020 and March 31, 2019: 

 

Weighted Average

Warrants exercise price

# $

Balance, March 31, 2018 -                                     -                                  

Issued 59,073,317                        0.57                                

Exercised (13,040,995)                       0.25                                

Balance, March 31, 2019 46,032,322                        0.66                                

Issued -                                     -                                  

Forfeited (5,102,922)                         0.25                                

Exercised (9,999,838)                         0.25                                

Balance, March 31, 2020 30,929,562                        0.85                                

Exercise Price Warrants Expiry Date

$ #

2.64 7,389,128 October 25, 2020

2.64 369,458 November 14, 2020

2.64 542,225 November 27, 2020

0.20 22,628,751 September 19, 2028

30,929,562
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As the Company’s trading history is less than the expected life of the options granted, the Company uses an expected 

volatility estimate based on the historical volatility of comparable companies operating in the cannabis industry. The 

expected option life represents the period of time that the options granted are expected to be outstanding. Expected 

dividend yield is based on the fact that the Company has not paid cash dividends and does not expect to do so in the 

foreseeable future. The risk-free interest rate is determined by reference to the Canada government bonds with a 

remaining term equal to the expected life of the options. 

 

A summary of the status of stock options outstanding follows: 

 

 
 

A total of 900,000 options were exercised on May 16, 2019 and the Company’s share price on that date was $1.08. A 

total of 33,000 options were exercised on October 16, 2019 and the Company’s share price on that date was $0.61.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019

(12 months ended) (12 months ended)

Fair Value at Grant Date 0.38                                    0.15                                    

Share Price at Grant Date 0.70                                    0.27                                    

Exercise Price 0.71                                    0.27                                    

Expected Volatility 80% 80%

Expected Option Life 3.5 years 3.5 years

Expected Dividends -                                      -                                      

Risk-free interest rate 1.29% 2.22%

Forfeiture rate 11.11% 8.33%

Weighted Average

Stock Options Exercise Price

# $

Balance, March 31, 2018

Granted 8,597,500                           0.27                                    

Balance, March 31, 2019 8,597,500                           0.27                                    

Granted 15,186,638                         0.72                                    

Exercised (933,000)                             0.20                                    

Forfeited (3,885,875)                          0.55                                    

Balance March 31, 2020 18,965,263                         0.57                                    
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 The following table summarizes the stock options that remain outstanding as at March 31, 2020: 

 

 

 
 

During the year ended March 31, 2020, the Company recorded aggregate share-based payments of $2,748,730 (year 

ended March 31, 2019 – $268,372) for all stock options granted.  These amounts include an adjustment in the current 

period, for prior year stock option share based compensation in the amount of $102,776 and the equivalent adjustment 

to Equity - Reserves. The adjustment resulted from a change in the recognition pattern of share based compensation to 

graded vesting, and from a concurrent, retrospective update of assumptions applied to prior year option grants, related 

to the expected option life of options granted and forfeiture rate, to correct total share based compensation as of March 

31, 2020. The updated assumptions and recognition pattern will continue to be used on a go-forward basis. Amounts 

recognized during the period ended March 31, 2020 include $70,505 recognized to consulting fees in conjunction with 

the above listed agreements. 

 

(e)   Restricted Share Units  

 

On November 13, 2018, the Board adopted a Restricted Share Unit Plan which provides that the Board may from time 

to time, in its discretion, and in accordance with exchange requirements, grant to directors, officers, employees, and 

consultants, non-transferable restricted share units of the Company (“RSU”). Each RSU granted under the Restricted 

Share Unit Plan vests over a term of three years such that one-third vests in year one, one-third vests in year two and 

the final third vests in year three. RSUs are granted based on the closing price on the date prior to the grant date.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Exercise Price Outstanding Options Expiry Date Options Exercisable

$ # #

0.20 4,767,000 August 13, 2023 1,566,667

0.20 310,000 September 11, 2023 130,000

1.62 40,000 November 13, 2023 13,333

1.04 552,500 November 26, 2023 184,167

0.69 195,000 December 17, 2023 65,000

0.98 5,662,000 April 13, 2024 24,000

1.05 620,000 June 3, 2024

0.92 80,000 July 2, 2024

1.25 (1) 200,000 July 26, 2021 200,000

0.84 20,000 August 19, 2024

0.69 56,000 September 30, 2024

0.65 2,905,613 October 2, 2024 7,350

0.18 (2) 3,557,150 March 11, 2025

18,965,263 2,190,517

(1)
200,000 options were issued to a vendor of the Company as consideration for services provided. The options were issued pursuant to a

service contract executed July 26, 2019 and the options vest in two tranches; 100,000 at contract execution and 100,000 three months

following execution. The options are exercisable at a price of $1.25 per share, for a period of 2 years from date of grant.

(2)
140,000 options were issued to a consultant of the Company as consideration for services to be provided for the period of March 1, 2020

through February 28, 2021. The options were issued pursuant to a services agreement executed March 1, 2020 between the consultant and

the Company. The options vest over a period of 3 years, with one-third vesting per year. The options are exercisable at a price of $0.18 for a

period of one year following each vesting period.
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 The following tables represent the Company’s Restricted Share Units during the period: 

 

 
 

The following table summarized the RSUs that remain outstanding as at March 31, 2020: 

 

 
 

During the year ended March 31, 2020, the Company recorded aggregate share-based payments of $2,661,055 (year 

ended March 31, 2019 – $409,177) for all RSU’s granted. These amounts include an adjustment in the current period, 

for prior year RSU share based compensation in the amount of $246,485, and the equivalent adjustment to Share 

Capital. The adjustment resulted from a change in the recognition pattern of share based compensation to graded 

vesting, and from a concurrent, retrospective update of assumptions applied to prior year RSU’s, related to estimated 

forfeiture rate, to correct total share based compensation as of March 31, 2020. The updated assumptions and 

recognition pattern will continue to be used on a go-forward basis. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Weighted Average

Grant Date RSU's Granted Issue Price

# $

Non-vested Balance, March 31, 2018 -                                      

Issued 2,172,500                           1.50                                    

Non-vested Balance, March 31, 2019 2,172,500                           1.50                                    

Issued 5,054,632                           0.62                                    

Vested (883,317)                             1.51                                    

Forfeited (965,375)                             1.04                                    

Non-vested Balance March 31, 2020 5,378,440                           0.75                                    

Issue Price RSU's Outstanding Vesting Date 
(1)

RSU's Vested 
(2)

$ # #

1.62 730,000 November 13, 2021 740,000

1.04 198,333 November 26, 2021 99,167

0.77 70,000 December 17, 2021 35,000

0.98 1,409,500 April 13, 2022 6,000

1.05 155,000 June 3, 2022

0.92 20,000 July 2, 2022

0.84 5,000 August 19, 2022

0.68 24,000 September 29, 2022

0.60 1,242,113 October 2, 2022 3,150

0.18 1,524,494 March 11, 2023

5,378,440 883,317
(1) 

RSU's vest ratably over a period of three years. Vesting Dates listed above, represent the end of the three-year term. At the end of each annual period 

from date of grant, one-third of the units granted, will vest.

(2) 
The Company accelerated vesting of 9,150 RSU's on March 2, 2020 however, shares related to these vested RSU's were not issued as of March 31, 2020.
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17. Income Taxes 

 

Deferred Taxes 

 

The reconciliation of the income tax rate of 26% (2019 – 27%) to the effective tax rate is as follows: 

 

 
 

The statutory tax rate decreased from 27% as of the year ended March 31, 2019 to 26% as of the year ended March 31, 

2020 due to decreases in the Alberta corporate tax rate on July 1, 2019 and on January 1, 2020. 

 

Deferred taxes are provided as a result of temporary differences that arise due to the differences between the income tax 

values and the carrying amount of assets and liabilities. The following table summarizes the components of deferred tax: 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2020 2019

Income (Loss) Before Taxes (23,342,148)       (4,171,210)           

Statutory tax rate 26.00% 27.00%

Expected income tax (recovery) (6,068,958)         (1,126,227)           

Non-deductible items 2,466,800          392,857                

Prior period adjustments and others 309,756             13,763                  

Foreign tax rate difference 321,420             207,657                

Change in tax rates 182,624             -                           

Share issuance cost -                         (255,398)              

Change in Deferred tax asset not recognized 2,788,358          767,348                

Total income tax expense (recovery) -                         -                           

2020 2019

Canada

Non capital loss carryforwards 680,245             846,657               

Prepaid royalty stream -                         75,106                 

Financing costs -                         204,319               

Fixed assets (7,612)                709                      

Intangible assets (479,536)            (488,607)              

Investment in associates (193,097)            (597,535)              

Marketable securities -                         (40,649)                

Net Deferred tax asset (liability) -                         -                           

US

Net operating loss carryforwards 9,414                 18,556                 

Fixed assets (9,414)                (18,556)                

Intangible assets -                         -                           

Net Deferred tax asset (liability) -                         -                           
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Unrecognized deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses 

 

Deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses for which no deferred tax asset is recognized in the statement of 

financial position are as follows: 

 

 
 

The Company’s Canadian non-capital income tax losses expire as follows: 

 

 
 

18. Segmented Information  

 

During the year ended March 31, 2020, the Company revised the composition of its reportable operating segments such 

that the new segments reflect the information used by the Company’s CODM in making decisions about resources to be 

allocated to the segments and about segment performance. Prior period comparative information has been adjusted to reflect 

these changes. Set out below is segmented information based on the Company’s operating segments: 

 

 

2020 2019

Property, plant and equipment - Canada -                         -                           

Intangibles and Deferrred Development Costs 691,700             -                           

SubTerra annuity receivable 560,558             -                           

Convertible debt instruments - B&M 46,945               -                           

Marketable securities 4,538,455          -                           

Intangible asset - Mr. Natural -                         -                           

Financing costs 567,552             -                           

Assets held for sale - B&M 27,584               -                           

Non-capital losses - Canada 3,157,656          652,691                

Accrued loss on investment - US 1,152,959          1,662,344             

Intercompany interest 239,594             -                           

Wage payable 28,297               -                           

ROU - lease 6,950                 -                           

Non-capital losses - US 8,044,752          2,530,243             

Expiration Total

2035 -                   

2036 -                   

2037 -                   

2038 405,890           

2039 298,138           

2040 2,453,628        

Total 3,157,656     

Cannabis Technology Total

$ $ $

As at March 31, 2020

  Non-current assets                 27,602,827                 12,381,914                 39,984,741 

  Non-current liabilities                 (2,058,843)                               -                   (2,058,843)

As at March 31, 2019

  Non-current assets                 31,766,264                   2,399,978                 34,166,242 

  Non-current liabilities                 (2,743,879)                               -                   (2,743,879)
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Included in the net loss of the cannabis operating segment in the period ending March 31, 2020, is $1,440,811 of impairment 

(Notes 8 and 13) and a reversal of impairment in the amount of $30,827 (Note 6). All non-current assets, other than financial 

instruments, are located in the United States. 

 

19. Related Party Transactions  

 

The Company incurred the following transactions with related parties during the twelve months ended March 31, 2020 and 

2019: 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Cannabis Technology Total

$ $ $

Twelve months ended March 31, 2020

Loss from operations               (13,875,709)                    (522,077)               (14,397,786)

Net Loss               (21,962,196)                 (1,379,952)               (23,342,148)

Twelve months ended March 31, 2019

Loss from Operations                 (4,136,940)                    (157,453) (4,294,393)                

Net Loss                 (4,016,157)                    (155,053) (4,171,210)                

March 31, March 31,

2020 2019 
(1)

$ $

Wages and benefits 
(2)                   2,155,049                     1,128,337 

Directors’ fees 
(3)                   2,002,058                        337,617 

Share-based compensation to related parties 
(4)

                  2,304,597                        620,760 

Conference fees  -                            2,624 

For the twelve months ended

(1)
 Amounts listed for the year ended March 31, 2019 are reflective of seven months of operations, or the period of time following the 

Company's spin-out from former parent, ACB, on September 18, 2018 through March 31, 2019.

(2)
 The Company's key management personnel have the authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the 

Company and consists of the Company's executive management team.

(3)
 The Company's directors' fees include meeting fees, shared-based compensation for the directors (as adjusted - Note 16) and an annual 

bonus paid to directors in the amount of $121,712.

(4)
 The Company's related parties included for share-based compensation (as adjusted - Note 16) are the executive management team during 

the periods presented.
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The following related party amounts were included in related party advances-payable, provisions and in receivables as at 

March 31, 2020 and March 31, 2019: 

 

 
 

Further, the Company entered into a License, Development and Services Agreement with Passport Technology Canada Ltd, 

an entity over which a member of the Company’s key management personnel has control (Note 10).  Negotiations on behalf 

of the Company, were performed and approved by independent directors and members of management. On June 25, 2020, 

the Company entered into an agreement to acquire Passport Technology, Inc., parent company to Passport Technology 

Canada, Ltd (Note 23). 

 

20. Financial Instruments and Risk Management  

 

(a) Fair value of financial instruments  

 

The Company’s financial instruments consist of cash, restricted cash, accounts receivable, annuity receivable, 

marketable securities, convertible instruments, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, contingent consideration 

payable, provisions and advances payable. Financial instruments recorded at fair value are classified using a fair value 

hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs to fair value measurements. The three levels of hierarchy are: 

 

Level 1 – Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 

Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; 

and 

Level 3 – Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data. 

 

The carrying values of cash, restricted cash, accounts receivable, and accounts payable and accrued liabilities 

approximate their fair values as at March 31, 2020 due to the relatively short-term maturity. The Company’s annuity 

receivable carrying value at the effective interest rate approximates fair value (Note 5). The Company’s investments 

in marketable securities are in private companies where relevant observable inputs are not available and are classified 

as Level 3 (Note 12). The fair value of the Company’s investment in convertible debentures includes Level 1 inputs 

applied to the Black-Scholes valuation model, and a Level 2 input of market interest rate as applied to similar 

convertible debentures (Note 13).  Fair value of contingent consideration payable is classified as Level 3 and is based 

upon management’s best estimate of the probability and timing of achieving the milestones to which the obligation is 

tied (Note 9). The Company’s provision payable is calculated based on the quoted price of Body and Mind shares in 

the market, a Level 1 input (Note 10). 

 

There have been no transfers between fair value levels during the period.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

March 31, March 31, 

2020 2019

$ $

Due to a former shareholder 
(1)                      617,275                        591,187 

Other receivable
 (2)                        76,460  - 

Due from officers                        28,374                                  -   

Provisions (Note 10)                      855,423                                  -   

Payable to AJR  -                          22,650 

Loan receivable from Body and Mind (Note 13)  -                     5,330,754 

(1) The amount is unsecured, non-interest bearing and has no fixed repayment terms.

(2) The amount is unsecured and includes advances of the employee portion of payroll taxes on RSU's exercised.  The payroll taxes on RSU's exercised have a 

repayment term of six months.
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 The following table summarizes the Company’s financial instruments as at March 31, 2020:  

 

 
 

(b) Financial instruments risk  

 

(i)  Credit risk  

 

Credit risk is the risk of a potential loss to the Company if a customer or third party to a financial instrument fails 

to meet its contractual obligations. The Company is moderately exposed to credit risk from its accounts receivables 

and its annuity receivable (Note 5). The risk exposure is limited to their carrying amounts at the statement of 

financial position date. Credit risk arises from the possibility that principal and/or interest due may become 

uncollectible. The Company mitigates this risk by managing and monitoring the underlying business relationships. 

 

For financial assets carried at amortized cost, the Company recognizes loss allowances for expected credit losses 

(“ECLs”), where applicable. ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. The Company applies a 

three-stage approach to measure ECLs. The Company measures loss allowance at an amount equal to twelve 

months of expected losses if the credit risk at the reporting date has not increased significantly since initial 

recognition (Stage 1) and at an amount equal to lifetime expected losses if there is a significant increase in credit 

risk since origination (Stage 2) and at an amount equal to lifetime expected losses which are credit impaired (Stage 

3). 

 

The Company considers a significant increase in credit risk to have occurred if contractual payments are more than 

30 days past due and considers the financial assets carried at amortized cost to be in default if they are 90 days 

past due. A significant increase in credit risk or default may have also occurred if there are other qualitative factors 

(including forward looking information) to consider; such as borrower specific information (i.e. change in credit 

assessment). Such factors include consideration relating to whether the counterparty is experiencing significant 

financial difficulty, there is a breach of contract, concessions are granted to the counterparty that would not 

normally be granted, or it is probable the counterparty will enter into bankruptcy or a financial reorganization. 

 

Significant increases in credit risk are assessed based on changes in probability of default of a financial asset 

subsequent to initial recognition. The Company uses past due information to determine whether credit risk has 

increased significantly since initial recognition. Financial assets are considered to have experienced a significant 

increase in credit risk and are reclassified to Stage 2 if a contractual payment is more than 30 days past due as at 

the reporting date. 

 

Amortized cost
Fair Value through 

profit and loss
Total

$ $ $

Cash                     7,646,919  -                     7,646,919 

Restricted cash                     8,685,581  -                     8,685,581 

Accounts receivable                        253,206  -                        253,206 

Annuity receivable - SubTerra                        792,148  -                        792,148 

Convertible debt instruments - BaM  -                     1,553,055                     1,553,055 

Marketable securities - Quality Green  -                        500,678                        500,678 

Marketable securities -  Folium Biosciences  -                        796,163                        796,163 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities                     1,968,003  -                     1,968,003 

Provisions                                  -                          855,423                        855,423 

Contingent consideration payable  -                     1,448,493                     1,448,493 

Advances payable - related parties                        617,275  -                        617,275 
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The Company defines default as the earlier of when a contractual payment is more than 90 days past due or when 

a loan becomes insolvent as a result of customer bankruptcy. Financial assets that have experienced a default event 

are considered to be credit impaired and are reclassified as Stage 3 loans. 

 

The Company measures ECL by considering the risk of default over the contract period and incorporates forward-

looking information into its measurement. ECLs are measured as the difference in the present value of the 

contractual cash flows that are due to the Company under the contract, and the cash flows that the Company 

expects to receive. The Company assesses all information available, including past due status and forward looking 

macro-economic factors in the measurement of the ECLs associated with its assets carried at amortized cost. 

 

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period over which the 

Company is exposed to credit risk. Based on the payment history of the Company’s annuity receivable, as well as 

the nature of the Company’s remaining receivables measured at amortized cost, there are currently no ECLs 

recognized as at March 31, 2020. 

 

(ii)  Liquidity risk  

 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations associated with financial 

liabilities. The Company manages liquidity risk through the management of its capital structure. The Company’s 

approach to managing liquidity is to ensure that it will have sufficient liquidity to settle obligations and liabilities 

when due.  

 

 As at March 31, 2020, the Company has the following contractual obligations: 

 

 
 

(iii)  Market risk 

 

 Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 

changes in market related factors, such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates. The objective of market risk 

management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters. 

 

o Currency risk 

 

The operating results and financial position of the Company are reported in Canadian dollars. As the Company 

operates in an international environment, some of the Company’s financial instruments and transactions are 

denominated in currencies other than the Canadian dollar. The results of the Company’s operations are subject 

to currency transaction and translation risks.  

 

At March 31, 2020, the Company held cash in Canadian and U.S. dollars. The Company’s main risk is 

associated with fluctuations in the U.S. dollar. Assets and liabilities are translated based on the foreign 

currency translation policy.  The Company has determined that a 10% increase or decrease in the U.S. dollar 

against the Canadian dollar on financial assets and liabilities would result in an increase or decrease of 

approximately $586,211 (March 31, 2019 - $1,122,696) to net loss and $987,387 (March 31, 2019 - 

$1,872,296) to comprehensive loss for the twelve months ended March 31, 2020. 

 

Total <1 year 1 - 3 years 3 - 5 years

$ $ $ $

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities                     1,968,003                     1,968,003  - -

Provision                        855,423                        855,423                               -   0

Contingent consideration payable 
(1)                     1,448,493  -                   1,448,493 -

Advances payable - related parties                        617,275                        617,275 - -

Liabilities Associated with Assets Held for Sale - Mr. Natural                        293,208                        293,208 - -

Lease liability                        751,913                        141,563                      396,209 214,141

(1) Contingent consideration payable is outlined in Note 9. The above reflects management's forecasted timing of achievement of the related milestones.
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At March 31, 2020, the Company has not entered into any agreements or purchased any instruments to hedge 

possible currency risks at this time. 

 

o Interest rate risk  

 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 

because of changes in market interest rates. The Company’s loans receivable have fixed rates of interest and 

therefore expose the Company to a limited interest rate fair value risk.  

 

o Price risk 

 

Price risk is the risk of unfavorable changes in the fair values of equity instruments or equity-linked derivatives 

as a result of changes in the value of individual shares.  Equity price risk exposure arises from the Company’s 

investments in Canada and U.S. cannabis, and from derivatives linked with such.  The Company manages this 

risk by investing in a variety of companies from a locational standpoint; however, this still exposes the 

Company to a moderate amount of price risk.  The Company has determined that a 10% increase or decrease 

in the fair value of these financial assets would result in an increase or decrease of approximately $150,000 

to net and comprehensive loss for the year ended March 31, 2020. 

 

(iv) Concentration risk 

 

 Concentration indicates the relative sensitivity of the Company’s performance to developments affecting a 

particular industry or geographical location. Concentrations of risk arise when a number of financial instruments 

or contracts are entered into with the same counterparty, or where a number of counterparties are engaged in 

similar business activities, or activities in the same geographical region, or have similar economic features that 

would cause their ability to meet contractual obligations to be similarly affected by changes in economic, political 

or other conditions. Concentrations of liquidity risk may arise from reliance on a particular market in which to 

realize liquid assets. Concentrations of foreign exchange risk may arise if the Company has a significant net open 

position in a single foreign currency.  

 

 The Company’s operations and investments in predominately U.S. cannabis expose the Company to a certain 

amount of concentration risk. 

 

21.  Capital Management  

 

The Company’s objectives when managing capital are to ensure that there are adequate capital resources to safeguard the 

Company’s ability to continue as a going concern and maintain adequate levels of funding to support its ongoing operations 

and development such that it can continue to provide returns to shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders. 

 

The capital structure of the Company consists of items included in shareholders’ equity, net of cash. The Company manages 

its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of 

the Company’s underlying assets. The Company plans to use existing funds, as well as funds from the future sale of products 

and services to fund operations and expansion activities. The Company made no changes to its capital structure or 

management of its capital structure in the current fiscal year. 

 

As at March 31, 2020, the Company is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements.  
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22. Commitments and Contingencies  

 

Lease Commitment 

 

The Company’s lease commitment consists of its lease for office space. The following table summarizes the Company’s 

undiscounted lease payments as of March 31, 2020: 

 

 
 

The following table provides a reconciliation of commitments at March 31, 2019 to the Company’s lease liability as of 

April 1, 2019 upon adoption of IFRS 16, and March 31, 2020:  

 

 
 

The total interest expense on lease liabilities and the total cash outflow for the twelve months ended March 31, 2020 were 

$93,223 and $223,013, respectively.  

 

Key movements relating to the right-of-use asset balances are presented below:  

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Commitment Period $

Less than 1 year 224,282                        

Greater than 1 and less than 5 years 724,482                        

Greater than 5 years -                               

Total Commitment 948,764                        

$

Disclosed commitments as of March 31, 2019 1,136,355                     

Impact of discount 297,706                        

Principal Balance of Lease liability at April 1, 2019                         838,649 

Lease payments (Apr - Mar 2020)                        (223,013)

Amortization of discount                           93,223 

Foreign Translation Adjustment                           43,054 

Lease liability at March 31, 2020                         751,913 

Current portion of lease liability at March 31, 2020 141,563                        

Long term portion of lease liability at March 31, 2020 610,350                        

Carrying value of Right-of-use assets $

Carrying amount, April 1, 2019                         880,306 

Additions to leased assets -                               

Depreciation expense                        (178,272)

Foreign Currency  Translation                           42,468 

Carrying amount, March 31, 2020                         744,502 
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23.  Subsequent Events  

 

The following events occurred subsequent to March 31, 2020 but prior to authorization of issuance of these financial 

statements, or July 1, 2020: 

 

(a) On April 1, 2020, the Company entered into an Asset Purchase Agreement with Paytron, LLC, a privately held 

omnichannel payment services provider, to acquire all operating assets of Paytron, including all active merchant 

accounts, access to payment processing platforms, and reseller partnerships. In connection with the acquisition, the 

principals of Paytron were hired as employees of the Company and the operations of Paytron will be transitioned to an 

operating subsidiary of the Company to be overseen by said principals. The operations of Paytron will also expand the 

existing service offering of the Company’s Cocoon TechnologyTM platform, becoming the payment processing branch 

for the platform.  As consideration for the assets acquired the Company issued 949,296 shares of common stock valued 

at $120,000 USD ($169,014 CAD) with the potential to issue up to an additional $1,000,000 USD ($1,408,450 CAD) 

in shares of the Company upon achievement of certain performance milestones based on Paytron’s net income. 

 

(b) In the previous fiscal year, the Company acquired certain intangible assets from Mr. Natural Productions, Inc. and 

Robert Luciano (collectively, the “Natural Parties”). The assets included the rights to the Mr. Natural brand, the life 

story right of Robert Luciano and all related intellectual property (collectively, “the acquired assets”) in exchange for 

cash consideration, common shares of the Company and royalty payments based on future performance. On April 25, 

2020 the Company entered into a Modification, Settlement, Assignment and Consent Agreement with the Natural 

Parties and a third party (the “Assignee”), to assign and transfer all rights to the acquired assets, and any and all 

obligations arising from royalty payments based on future performance of the acquired assets, to the Assignee with the 

consent of the Natural Parties. Additionally, the Natural Parties returned to the Company 533,981 common shares of 

the Company, or all common shares issued to the Natural Parties in connection with the Company’s initial acquisition 

of the acquired assets. The shares were returned on April 30, 2020. 

 

(c) On June 25, 2020, the Company entered into an agreement to acquire Passport Technology, Inc (the “Passport 

Acquisition”), a developer of technology-based products and services for highly regulated payments, gaming and 

financial institutions. The Company had previously acquired from Passport Technology Canada, Ltd, a wholly-owned 

subsidiary of Passport Technology, Inc., (collectively “Passport Technology”), a ten-year license to Passport 

Technology’s proprietary platform and technology (Note 10). The Passport Acquisition will result in immediate 

revenues to the Company from Passport Technology’s existing operations, and enhanced synergies with the Company’s 

Cocoon Technology Platform. Closing consideration for the Passport Acquisition includes 58,651,552 common shares 

of the Company valued at $12,200,000 based on a 15-day volume-weighted average trading price of the Company’s 

shares, $9,600,000 in cash, $3,000,000 shares of Body and Mind, Inc. (“BaM”) common stock, and $6,600,000 in real 

property (or cash if the real property is sold prior to closing). Further, if the Company achieves revenues in excess of 

$7,000,000 in 2021, Passport shareholders will be entitled to $2,000,000 payable in common shares of the Company 

and BaM, and if the Company achieves revenues in excess of $8,000,000, Passport shareholders will be entitled to an 

additional $2,000,000 payable in common shares of the Company and BaM. Lastly, if EBITDA in 2021 is above 

$3,000,000, Passport shareholders will receive 25% of revenues generated by the Company in excess of $7,000,000 

earned during 2021. 

 

The Company’s Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) and Director is the majority shareholder of Passport Technology 

making the Passport Acquisition a related party transaction as such term is defined in the Multilateral Instrument 61-

101 – Protection of Minority Security Holders in Special Transactions. As such, the Passport Acquisition will require 

the Company’s minority shareholder approval and as a related party, the Company’s CEO and any other interested 

parties in Passport Technology will not be eligible to vote on approval of the acquisition. 

 

In connection with, and contingent upon approval of the Passport Acquisition, the Company announced a non-brokered 

private placement of units of the Company (the “Units”) at $0.28 per Unit, to raise gross proceeds of a minimum of 

$5,000,000 and a maximum of $8,000,000 (the “Private Placement”). Each Unit consists of one common share in the 

capital of the Company (the “Shares”) and one-half of a common share purchase warrant (a “Warrant”). Each whole 

Warrant will entitle the holder to purchase one additional Share at a price of $0.38 on or before the Warrant expiry date 
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which will be 2 years following the closing of the Private Placement. All securities to be issued in connection with the 

Private Placement will be subject to a statutory hold period of four months plus a day in accordance with applicable 

securities legislation. The net proceeds from the Private Placement will be used by the Company to close the Passport 

Acquisition, fund on-going operations, and for investments that adhere to the Company’s Investment Policy. 

 

Closing of the Private Placement is expressly contingent on the Company obtaining shareholder approval of the 

Passport Acquisition at the Company’s next annual general meeting of shareholders (“AGM”). If the Company does 

not consummate the Passport Acquisition, Passport Technology will be entitled to a break fee of $2,500,000.  

 

(d) On June 29, 2020 the Company was served with a lawsuit naming the Company that has been filed, under seal, in Clark 

County, Nevada by Meridian Companies, LLC and Green Therapeutics, LLC. The lawsuit alleges, among other things, 

breach of contract by the Company with respect to certain obligations outlined in the Company’s asset purchase 

agreement with Green Therapeutics entered into on May 21, 2019. The Company believes the lawsuit to be without 

merit and intends to vigorously defend the case. 

 

(e) The novel coronavirus, also referred to as “COVID-19”, was identified in December 2019 in Wuhan, China and has 

since spread world-wide. On March 11, 2020, the World Health Organization (“WHO”) declared the spread of the 

virus a global pandemic and on March 13, 2020, President Donald Trump declared the pandemic a national emergency. 

In an effort to mitigate the spread and severity of the virus, Federal and State authorities have issued guidance and 

directives restricting travel, closing non-essential business and encouraging or mandating citizens to stay home. The 

Company has implemented “social distancing” measures as recommended by these authorities and the Centers for 

Disease Control, by restricting non-essential travel by employees and permitting all staff to work remotely, who have 

the ability to do so.  These measures will remain in effect until such time as otherwise directed by appropriate 

authorities. The directions of authorities are extremely fluid and rapidly evolving in response to the effects and spread 

of the virus. The Company monitors guidance issued by state and federal authorities in response to the COVID-19 

pandemic on an on-going basis. 

 

As the Company is in the process of establishing operations, the most immediate impact of the pandemic on the 

Company’s financial results is through period end assessments of the recoverable amount of the Company’s assets, 

namely its annuity receivable, investments in marketable securities and equity method investees and its capital assets 

including property, equipment and intangibles. The Company took into consideration, the potential of the COVID-19 

pandemic to impact the results of these period-end assessments. The effects of the pandemic are expected to be 

temporary, however the duration of the effects and related financial impact to the global economy, and more 

specifically the domestic cannabis industry, cannot be reasonably estimated at this time. Considerable judgement was 

therefore used in these inputs for period-end assessments and changes in these inputs could result in a significant 

difference in assessment results. 

 

In connection with Nevada State Directives, beginning March 20, 2020, dispensaries in the state of Nevada were limited 

to delivery only services, with curbside pick-up available beginning May 1, 2020 and reopening later in May, subject 

to the dispensaries submitting and receiving approval from the state,  a plan to address social distancing guidelines for 

in-store sales. As mentioned above, the Company is in the process of establishing operations, most significantly through 

its Cocoon Platform, a self-service kiosk originally anticipated to be deployed in cannabis dispensaries in early calendar 

quarter two of 2020. As a result of state directives, the Company anticipates a short delay in deploying the initial round 

of Cocoon kiosks to local dispensaries which will consequently delay the anticipated revenues from these kiosks by a 

similar period of time. Although delayed, the Company believes the use of kiosks in dispensaries will be a benefit to 

both consumers and dispensaries as it facilitates dispensary transactions while limiting personal interactions and 

promoting social distancing. As the state and country work towards recovery from the pandemic, the Company 

anticipates that intermediaries such as self-service kiosks may be relied upon. 

 

As of the date of issuance of these financial statements, there have been no changes to capital investment plans nor 

corporate objectives of the Company, as a result of the pandemic.  

 

 


